Analyzing the spatial variation of environmental impacts from sugarcane land use and expansion in Sao Paulo state, Brazil.

Student: Ivan Vera

Student number: 5579317

Email: i.c.vera@students.uu.nl

Sustainable development Master

Track: Global change and ecosystem

(SD: GCE)

Supervisors: Dr. Birka Wicke

Dr. Floortje van der Hilst



Universiteit Utrecht

2016

Table of contents

1. Introduction	6
2. Methods	9
2.1. Study Area	10
2.2. Land cover data	11
2.3. CO ₂ emissions	12
2.3.1. CO ₂ emissions from LUC	12
2.3.1.1. Above and below ground Biomass:	13
2.3.1.2 CO ₂ emission from sugarcane expansion (biomass):	15
2.3.1.3. CO ₂ emissions from Soil Organic Carbon (SOC)	17
2.4 Biodiversity	21
2.4.1 Protected areas	22
2.4.2 Land cover change dynamics (forest category)	23
2.4.3 Mean species abundance (MSA)	23
2.5 Water quantity	25
2.6 Soil erosion	28
2.7 Environmental impacts integration	33
3. Results	35
3.1 Land use change	35
3.2 CO ₂ emissions	40
3.3 Biodiversity	46
3.3.1 Protected areas	46
3.3.2 Land cover change dynamics (forest category)	47
3.3.3 Mean species abundance	50
3.4 Water shortage	53
3.5 Soil erosion	56
3.5 Results integration	58
4. Discussion	61
5. Conclusion	65
6. References	67

List of tables

Table 1. Input data to calculate above and below round biomass and carbon content for	or each
land use category	16
Table 2 Parameters used for the sensitivity analysis for the CO ₂ emissions from the bi	omass
section	17
Table 3. SOC stock change factors employed for each land cover category	20
Table 4 Parameters used for the sensitivity analysis for the CO ₂ emissions from the SO	C
section	21
Table 5 Geographical input data used to calculate CO ₂ emissions	21
Table 6 MSA land use value assigned to this study land cover categories	24
Table 7 Parameters used for the sensitivity analysis for the Biodiversity section	25
Table 8 Kc values assigned to each corresponded sugarcane growing stage	26
Table 9 Kc values assigned to each corresponded sugarcane growing stage for the sen	sitivity
analysis	
Table 10 C factors for different land cover categories in Sao Paulo state	32
Table 11 P factors for different land cover categories in Sao Paulo state	33

List of figures

Fig. 1 Sao Paulo state location in Brazil, case study area10
Fig. 2 Area change from sugarcane land cover in Sao Paulo state
Fig. 3 Sugarcane land cover change in Sao Paulo state from 2007-2008
Fig. 4 Land cover transformation from sugarcane land cover category in Sao Paulo state38
Fig. 5 Land cover transformation to sugarcane in Sao Paulo State from 2007-2008
Fig. 6 Sugarcane transformation to other land cover category in Sao Paulo state from 2007-
2008
Fig. 7 total CO_2 emissions from sugarcane land use and expansion in Sao Paulo state42
Fig. 8 Spatial distribution of CO ₂ emissions or sequestration from biomass 2006-200743
Fig. 9 Sensitivity analysis from Biomass CO2 emissions from Sao Paulo state Brazil, 2011-
2012
Fig. 10 Spatial CO ₂ emissions from SOC 2006-200745
Fig. 11 Sensitivity analysis from SOC CO ₂ emissions from Sao Paulo state Brazil, 2004-2005
Fig. 12percentage of forest and sugarcane inside PA's47
Fig. 13 Forest category dynamics from Sao Paulo state
Fig. 14 Deforestation from sugarcane expansion in Sao Paulo state 2007-200849
Fig. 15 landscape indicators for Sao Paulo state50
Fig. 16 MSA value change from sugarcane land use for 2006-2007 harvest year51
Fig. 17 MSA value change from sugarcane land use for 2012-2013 harvest year52
Fig. 18 Sensitivity analysis from the MSA score for Sao Paulo state Brazil, 2007-200653
Fig. 19 Water shortage for sugarcane initial growing stage in Sao Paulo state 2012-201354
Fig. 20 Water shortage for sugarcane mid growing stage in Sao Paulo state 2012-201355
Fig. 21 Water shortage for sugarcane late growing stage in Sao Paulo state 201255

Fig. 23 yearly soil loss from sugarcane plantations in S	ao Paulo state58
Fig. 24 spatial soil loss from sugarcane plantations in S	Sao Paulo state in 201258
Fig. 25 EI's integration score for each harvest year in %	%
Fig. 26 EI's integration results for 2006-2007 harvest y	year60
Fig. 27 EI's integration results for 2011-2012 harvest y	year60

Abstract

In this study, the spatial variation of environmental impacts from sugarcane production was quantitatively assessed for Sao Paulo state, Brazil. The study analyzed the time step from 2004-2015. More specifically, the study objective was to analyze spatially the environmental impacts generated from the sugarcane use and expansion. The spatial variation analysis is a relevant component to understand the spatial sustainability from the sugarcane industry in the state. The Land Use Change (LUC) dynamics from the state were evaluated on yearly basis for the entire time step (2004-2015) with a geographical information system (GIS) and were the reference point for the environmental impacts assessments. 4 different environmental impacts were assessed on yearly basis for the entire time step (2004-2015). CO_2 emissions from sugarcane land use and LUC were quantified with the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, water shortage was evaluated with a water balance approach, biodiversity with the Mean Species Abundance indicator, and soil erosion with the RUSLE equation. Furthermore, the environmental impacts were integrated and classified between negative, positive and no change impacts to obtain a complete image of the sustainability (spatially) of the sugarcane production in the state. The spatial variation in the environmental impacts and integration section was also assessed with GIS. On a general basis, there were more negative than positive impacts from the sugarcane production and expansion (depending on harvest year). Furthermore, areas with sugarcane expansion are generating more negative impacts than the constant sugarcane areas. The environmental impacts integration showed that there were several tradeoffs between impacts and the Northwest area of the state is the one with the most negative scores. Nevertheless, the scores vary from year to year with some years performing worse than others. The geographical variation from environmental impacts is mostly determined by previous land use (with the exception of the water indicator). Furthermore, inter-annual variations between impacts are relative low and mostly determined by different factors for each environmental impact. This study provides a basis and framework to identify possible areas more suitable for sugarcane expansion that could generate more positive than negative impacts and also key parameters that could be improved to enhance the sustainability of the sector.

1. Introduction

Since the beginning of the modern age, society has been driven by its dependence on fossil fuels. CO₂ emissions from fossil fuels have been identified as the main contributor to climate change (Friedlingstein et al., 2010). Despite knowledge of climate change induced impacts such as biodiversity loss, sea level rise, temperature rise and negative effects on crop yield (IPCC, 2014), CO₂ emissions have continuously increased (The World Bank, 2016a). Emissions have tripled in the last 50 years, intensifying climate change (The World Bank, 2016a). Furthermore, societal dependence on fossil fuel energy is extensive and entrenched, as more than 80% of the world energy consumption is derived from fossil fuels and the trend has remained stable for the last 30 years (The World Bank, 2016b). In order to reduce this dependence on fossil fuels and mitigate the impacts of climate change a switch to a renewable energy system with low associated greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions is required (Cornelissen et al., 2012).

In the upcoming years, energy demand is expected to continue increasing, driven mainly by population growth (IEA, 2010) (Petrecca, 2014). Renewable Energy (RE) defined by the IPCC as "any form of energy that is replenished by natural processes at a rate that equals or exceeds its rate of use, obtained from the continuing or repetitive flows of energy occurring in the natural environment," is already playing a key role in supplying energy services in a sustainable manner as a function of climate change mitigation (Arvizu et al., 2011). In 2008, the RE share of energy sources from the global total primary energy supply corresponded to 12.9% (Bioenergy accounting for 10.3%) (IEA, 2010). This share has improved over the last years (Chum et al., 2011) and several projections (under different scenarios) forecast an increase of RE supply for 2030 and 2050 (Chum et al., 2011; WWF, Ecofys and OMA, 2011; GEA, 2012).

Bioenergy (Energy obtained from animal and vegetable derived material) accounts for the largest share of RE (Chum et al., 2011); as a result it demands special attention. Bioenergy is mainly derived from Animal By-Products (ABP), Agricultural By-Products (AGBP) and Energy Crops (EC) (Chum et al., 2011). The vast majority of EC is composed of Sugar, Starch and Oilcrops (Luque et al., 2008), and at the present these EC are one of the main feedstocks for Biofuels production (Koizumi, 2015). Biofuels are commonly defined as "any sort of fuel that is made from organic matter (Biomass)" (Luque et al., 2008), and are produced to enhance energy security, reduce GHG emissions, and strengthen agricultural/rural development (Koizumi, 2015). Biofuel production has increased over the last years and the trend is expected to continue into the future (Licht FO, 2014a) (Licht FO, 2014b).

Bioethanol accounts for the largest share of biofuels production, with Brazil positioned as the world's second largest producer (Koizumi, 2015). Brazil is the leading country in sugar cane production and has been a pioneer in the use of it to produce bioethanol (Altieri, 2012). Brazil's biofuels industry has replaced more than half of the country's gasoline needs (Altieri, 2012), reducing GHG emissions (Walter et al., 2011). Furthermore, it has enhanced the country's economy and has generated more than 845,000 direct and indirect jobs (Renewables Global Status Report, 2015). However, sugarcane cultivation is not only

intended for bioethanol production, it is also processed into sugar. Brazil is the leading sugar producing country in the world (USDA, 2016), and has constructed a prevailing model for producing sugar and ethanol in an integrated way (de Souza Dias et al., 2015). The sugar and bioethanol industry have expanded over the last decades and has induced Land Use Change (LUC) derived from sugarcane expansion, and within a 5 year period (2005-2010) 4 million hectares of sugarcane have expanded in the central-south region of Brazil (Adami et al., 2012).

LUC has become one of the main issues regarding the sustainability of bioethanol production (Walter et al., 2011). Particularly in Brazil, there are high concerns regarding the relationship between sugarcane production and deforestation or food crops displacement (Walter et al., 2011). Furthermore, there is a risk of LUC generating a cascade effect leading to habitat loss, ecosystem function loss and even affecting regional hydrological cycles (Goldemberg et al., 2008). In addition, it is recognized that significant GHG emissions can result from LUC (Fargione et al., 2008), and the net CO₂ emissions from the sugarcane industry are still debated (Cerri et al., 2009). Impacts on soil generated from LUC are largely dependable on agronomic and agro-processing practices (Zuurbier and Van de Vooren, 2008). In Brazil, soil erosion and compaction are considered problems in sugarcane fields (especially the ones under intense mechanization during cultivation and harvesting) (Martinelli and Filoso, 2008). LUC dynamics have been identified as one of the fundamental components related to environmental and societal problems (Turner et al., 2007). Furthermore, the study of these dynamics is considered an essential element for understanding global sustainability and environmental change (Turner et al., 2007).

Different studies performed in Brazil, especially from an environmental perspective, have contributed to an understanding of the sustainability of the ethanol and sugar industry (Goldemberg et al., 2008; Walter et al., 2011). Sustainability of the bioenergy sector has been an important research objective and several sustainable criteria sets such as the one developed by Sao Paulo state (laws) have been developed in the last years (Aguiar et al., 2011). Numerous studies mainly from a Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) and energy balance approach, suggest that the production and use of bioethanol, reduces GHG emissions when compared to gasoline (de Carvalho Macedo, 1992; de Carvalho Macedo, 1998; Goldemberg et al., 2008; Macedo et al., 2008; Luo et al., 2009; Seabra et al., 2011). Nevertheless, none of these studies have addressed the impacts from direct LUC. Few studies have considered the GHG emissions from sugar cane cultivation and expansion. However, a study from de Oliveira Bordonal (2015) assessed direct LUC (by the means of satellite images) derived from sugarcane expansion from 2006–2011 in central-south Brazil and suggested that direct LUC had a favorable impact on C fixation (C sink behavior). Nonetheless, avoided emissions could differ drastically when considering the effect of LUC and even account for higher emissions compared to the gasoline life cycle (Walter et al., 2011).

Other sustainability criteria such as biodiversity have been studied by different authors. Rodrigues et al. (2011) studied the effects on biodiversity from LUC for different land covers (Forest, Cropland, etc.) from different sugarcane farms and Filoso et al. (2015) suggested an ecological restoration with native species to prevent habitat fragmentation induced by LUC. Sugarcane crops also affect soils; Silva et al. (2007) suggested that sugarcane cultivation leads to soil compaction. Additionally, Martinelli and Filoso (2008) recommended measures to prevent soil degradation and erosion from sugarcane cultivation. Filoso et al. (2015) also suggested that soil compaction is a problematic issue in Brazil agriculture, especially in sugar cane, leading to the loss of topsoil with important nutrients and carbon (Chavez-Rodriguez and Nebra 2010). Cabral et al. (2012) and da Silva et al. (2013) concluded that rain water is enough for the sugarcane production, resulting in no irrigation needed; and sugarcane productivity increases with water level. Meanwhile, Chavez-Rodriguez et al. (2013) calculated water usage for the bioethanol production and suggested means to reduce it. Hernandes et al. (2014) calculated water footprint for Brazil Biofuels concluding that more data is needed to assess if the sugarcane expansion can lead to water scarcity.

Filoso et al (2015) have highlighted the importance of measuring additional sustainability criteria (GHG, water, biodiversity, etc) in order to understand the sustainability of the sugarcane production industry in Brazil. Furthermore, none of the mentioned studies have analyzed spatially the sustainability of the sector. Sustainable criteria and the elements that determine it may vary strongly within the same region and might be influenced by different environmental and socio-economical contexts (even within the same region). A regional assessment without spatial differentiation from relevant factors that determine sustainable criteria might lead to inadequate conclusions. Therefore, a spatial differentiation approach is more suitable for analyzing the linkage between sugarcane LUC dynamics and sustainable criteria (CO_2 emissions, water stress, soil erosion and biodiversity impacts) that influence the sustainability of the sugarcane production industry. In addition, the spatial assessment will help identify areas that are more or less sustainable for different environmental criteria.

Taking into account that Sao Paulo state produces more than 60% of Brazil's sugarcane (Altieri, 2012) and that it has experienced the largest sugarcane expansion in the country (Rudorff et al., 2010), the main objective of the study is to analyze spatially the sustainability of the sugarcane production in Sao Paulo state (Brazil) from 2004-2015. The sustainability of the sugarcane land use and expansion areas was assessed through an environmental impacts assessment focused on CO_2 emissions from LUC and land use, biodiversity, soil and water. It must be highlighted that indirect land use change goes beyond the scope of the study and therefore is not included. The spatial and chronological analysis (evaluation of the sustainability on yearly basis) will provide a complete reference to understand the dynamics (regarding environmental impacts) generated spatially and temporally from sugarcane expansion and current sugarcane use areas in Sao Paulo state. Following the same order of ideas, the study will investigate the following question and sub questions:

• What is the spatial variation in environmental impacts from sugarcane expansion for Sao Paulo state?

- What are the land use change dynamics in Sao Paulo state from sugarcane production?

- What are the areas in Sao Paulo state with a better sustainability performance?

2. Methods

The research followed a systematic approach to assess on yearly and spatially explicit basis, the Environmental Impacts (EI's) in Sao Paulo state generated from LUC (areas where sugarcane is expanding). Nevertheless, the impacts were also assessed for the current sugarcane land use areas (areas where sugarcane is already cultivated). The current sugarcane land use areas extension ranges between 16-21% (depending on harvest year) of the total state area. The magnitude of the current sugarcane land use area is extensive to the level that it was considered important to assess the EI's of these zones (EI's from current land use might be more significant given the vast area used for sugarcane production). The EI's addressed in the study were CO₂ emissions from land use and LUC, water shortage, soil erosion and biodiversity. Each environmental impact was quantified spatially explicitly on a yearly basis (from 2004 to 2015) and the unit of analysis for each impact is addressed in the correspondent subsection. The analysis was conducted for each harvest year (2004-2005, 2005-2006 and so on) to obtain a complete chronological description of the sugarcane production performance for the studied time step (2004-2015). Important dynamics could have been left out of the evaluation if the EI's assessment was performed without a chronological order.

In order to obtain the impacts from sugarcane expansion and land use, the methods were applied for all land cover categories for the first reference year from the harvest year and for the sugarcane category for the last reference year of the harvest year. E.g. for the 2005-2006 harvest year, the methods are applied for all land cover categories for 2005, but for 2006 only for the sugarcane land cover category (further information is explained on each section and this was done for each harvest year). In addition, the EI's were integrated on a yearly basis to obtain a complete picture of the sustainability of the state sugarcane production. The results from each EI were evaluated (given the difference of each EI units) into positive and negative impacts. The integration of the EI's is explained in the EI's integration section

The study addressed direct impacts from the sugarcane expansion and current sugarcane land use. Indirect impacts such as indirect land use change (ILUC) go beyond the scope of the study. As mentioned before, the EI's assessment is dependable on the LUC dynamics and processes from the state. For this reason, the LUC dynamics were also analyzed on yearly basis for the whole state. However, he LUC dynamics section does not only analyze the sugarcane expansion, but also the sugarcane contraction area (only for this section). It must be highlighted that the LUC analysis is not part from the EI's but they are highly entrenched with each other. Furthermore, this was done order to contribute to a better understanding of the EI's and LUC dynamics in the state. Analyzing spatially each environmental impact demanded specific spatial data from different components such as climate, soil types and (particularly important) land cover. The input data was processed and modeled with ArcMap 10.2.2. A sensitivity analysis was performed in order to get a clear picture of how the uncertainty in different components from the input data was affecting the results. The following section discusses the methods used for quantifying each environmental impact with a special subsection for the study area and land cover data.

2.1. Study Area

The case study area consists of Sao Paulo state, which is located in the Southeast region and is one of the 26 states that form Brazil. The Southeast region has experienced the largest sugarcane expansion (Martinelli and Filoso, 2008). This expansion has been driven mainly by the expanding domestic ethanol market and exports to other countries (Goldemberg et al., 2008). Sao Paulo state alone has more than 50% of the country's sugarcane land cover and is responsible for more than 60% of Brazilian sugarcane production (Martinelli and Filoso, 2008) (Altieri, 2012). Furthermore, the state produces approximately 62% of Brazil's ethanol (Goldemberg et al., 2008).

Sao Paulo is the most populated state in the country with over 41 million people and an area of 248,209.4 square kilometers (IBGE, 2015). The state has a subtropical climate with an annual precipitation of 1250-1850 mm and a mean annual temperature of 18-26 °C (INMET, 2015). Sao Paulo state borders in the north with Minas Gerais state, in the South with Parana state, in the west with Mato Grosso do Sul and in the east with the Atlantic Ocean. The exact location of Sao Paulo state in Brazil is shown in Fig.1.



Fig. 1 Sao Paulo state location in Brazil, case study area

2.2. Land cover data

The study was based on the land cover data developed by Delft University of Technology (TUD) as part of the <u>Improved space-based remote sensing for land use mapping; towards a</u> <u>sustainable expansion of the bioethanol sector in Brazil project</u>. The land cover data set includes yearly land cover data from Sao Paulo state (2004-2015) with accuracies ranging from 70% to 90% for all land cover classes in standard conditions. The land cover data (maps) is on geographic coordinates (GCS WGS 1984) with a 0.000250 ° resolution and it is divided into the following categories (TUD, 2016):

- Urban area: Includes built in area such as roads.
- Water: Including wetlands.
- Forest: correspond to dense foliage/high biomass species with high crown cover, native forest being the most occurring case.
- Low vegetation: corresponds to unmanaged grassland, but also includes rangeland with predominant grassland cover, managed pastureland and abandoned cropland.
- Medium vegetation: corresponds to dense shrubland and woodland with low crown cover. Additionally, it also includes dense foliage rangeland and fruit crops such as citrus.
- Eucalyptus: includes the eucalyptus species and planted eucalyptus which can be distinguished from forest due to its harvest events.
- Annual crops: Crops that complete their harvest cycle annually such as beans
- Sugarcane: correspond to sugarcane plantations regardless of harvest stage (Plant cane, ratoon or land under renovation).

Projection and resolution

The study dealt with different data coordinate systems and resolutions. Aggregating all this data into the same scale could lead to different data values and interferences (Jelinski and Wu, 1996). In order to establish a scale and coordinate system adequate for the study, several aspects were taken into account. First, one of the most important input data (soil types and climate) is on projected coordinate system (South America Albers Equal Conic Area), for this reason and to process all the input data in the same coordinate system (this will give no distortion of areas between input data), the other input data was projected to South America Albers Equal Conic Area. Second, the resolution was chosen taking into account that it had to be small enough to show the land use changes (sugarcane expansion) over time and big enough to spend reasonable time on running the models given that it had to be repeated for

each year (High resolution may lead to long periods of modelling time). On average, the total area of a sugarcane plantation in Sao Paulo state was 8,000 ha (80 km^2) in 1970 and currently (2014) is around 12,000 ha (120 km^2) (Gasparatos and Stromberg, P. (2012). A resolution of 1 km² was considered enough to satisfy both requirements (land use change from sugarcane plantations and modelling time); subsequently all the input data resolution was resampled into 1 km².

2.3. CO₂ emissions

2.3.1. CO₂ emissions from LUC

CO2 emissions from LUC result from carbon stock changes in biomass, dead organic matter, litter, harvested wood products and soils (IPCC, 2006). These carbon stock changes are driven mainly by the conversion from one land use to another, resulting in either carbon accumulation or carbon decrease in a specific stock (IPCC, 2006). In order to establish the CO₂ emissions or carbon sequestration from the sugarcane expansion and current land use, the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2006 IPCC guidelines) were used. This study analyzed the direct land use change plus current use from sugarcane and calculated the relevant carbon pools for the land cover classes present in the land cover data: Biomass (above ground biomass and below ground biomass) and soils (Soil Organic Carbon (SOC)). The measurement unit for this section was t CO_2 -eq/ha year. The stock difference method with a tier1 (procedures) and tier 2 (given some specific data) combination was applied to assess carbon stock changes in different points in time and is represented by equation 1. According to tier 1, dead organic matter net stock and litter net stock changes are assumed to be 0 given that the average transfer rate into both stock is equal to the average transfer rate out (IPCC,2006). Harvester wood products carbon stock was also not calculated given that it goes beyond the scope of the study. Furthermore, several input data were used to establish spatially explicit carbon content (for each land cover category) for the relevant pools and it is explained on each land cover category.

Equation 1

$$\Delta C = \frac{(C_{t2} - C_{t1})}{(t_2 - t_1)}$$

Where:

 ΔC = annual carbon stock change in the pool, tons of C/year C_{t1} = Carbon stock in the pool at time t1, tons of C C_{t2} = Carbon stock in the pool at time t2, tons of C

As mentioned before, the ΔC was calculated for the two relevant carbon pools and integrated to obtain the total change. According to 2006 IPCC guidelines procedures, both carbon pools have different emission time lines. While the biomass carbon pool represents the yearly changes, the soils one is computed under the assumption that it would take 20 years for them to reach stability. This means that the emission or sequestration results from the soil carbon pool are calculated for 20 year time spam. Even with the time lines difference, the 2006 IPCC guidelines integrates the results as a whole. For this reason (and the complications to track soils changes for each individual cell on yearly basis during the whole studied period 2004-2015), it was assumed soil stable conditions for each year¹.

2.3.1.1. Above and below ground Biomass:

The biomass carbon content was quantified for each year (2004-2015) for above and below ground biomass. The 2006 IPCC guidelines were used as reference and detailed methods were applied to obtain specific cell values (spatial biomass carbon content distribution). The detailed methods are explained in the next section for each land cover category. Equation 2 was applied to obtain carbon content in above and below ground biomass for each category.

Equation 2

$$C_{Bi} = \left((B_{above} * DM) + \left((B_{above} * DM) * R \right) \right) * CF$$

Where:

$$\begin{split} C_{Bi} &= Biomass \ carbon \ content \ for \ land \ cover \ category \ i, \ tons \ of \ carbon \ dry \ matter/ha \\ B_{above} &= Above \ ground \ biomass \ production, \ ton/ha \\ DM &= Dry \ matter \ content \ of \ above \ ground \ biomass, \ \% \\ R &= ratio \ of \ below-ground \ biomass \ to \ above-ground \ biomass \\ CF &= carbon \ fraction \ of \ dry \ matter, \ tons \ of \ C \end{split}$$

In the following subsections, additional steps for determining Equation 2 parameters are described for each land cover category. It must be highlighted that the additional steps are taken in order to establish spatially explicit results.

Sugarcane:

FAO sugarcane suitability map (FAO, 2012a) was used to obtain spatial variation (biomass dry matter content) within sugarcane land cover category. This approach was selected given that there is no spatially explicit sugarcane map of sugarcane yield for the studied time step. Suitability maps are based on soil, terrain conditions, water input, agricultural inputs and climatic conditions (FAO, 2012a). An intermediate agricultural input level was assumed (given that high input levels assume full mechanization), rain fed as water input (Sao Paulo sugarcane industry has no irrigation (Goldemberg et al., 2008)) and climatic baseline conditions. Furthermore, sugarcane yield values for Sao Paulo sugarcane production from 2004-2015 were retrieved from the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE for the Portuguese acronyms) (IBGE, 2015). Successively, a mean suitability value was calculated for the state (taking into account only sugarcane area). The mean suitability value was paired with the sugarcane yield for each specific year. A cross multiplication was applied to obtain sugarcane yield values for each cell from each correspondent suitability value. This process was done in order to establish spatial difference production between sugarcane plantations in the state.

Equation 2 was used for each cell (taking into account sugarcane dry content values, carbon fraction and yield data) and carbon content from above and below ground biomass was

¹ Further information is for this topic is present on the soil subsection.

obtained². This process was repeated for every year. It must be highlighted that the yield values and the mean suitability values (dependable on sugarcane area) were different for every year, correspondent yearly values were used.

Forest:

The forest land cover category was divided within Sao Paulo climatic zones³ according to 2006 IPCC guidelines procedures (R values are dependable on climatic zones). Next, the improved pan-tropical map of aboveground woody biomass (in tons of dry matter/ha) at 1 km resolution (Avitabile et al., 2016) was implemented to obtain above ground biomass. Crossing the forest land cover with the pan-tropical map resulted in above ground dry biomass content for each cell in the forest category. Equation 2 was applied using 2006 IPCC guidelines default values for R and CF (Table 1). This process was repeated for every year (with the forest area variating on a yearly basis). Additionally, the cross layer from the forest land cover category with the pan-tropical map was checked on a yearly basis to assure proper overlapping areas.

Low vegetation:

Given that this category includes a wide definition, it was assumed that this vegetation corresponds to grassland, managed planted pastures and rangeland. Planted pastures (including rangeland) in Brazil are used for livestock production (Carvalho, 2006). Furthermore, Alfalfa grass is one of the most important forage crops in Brazil and the world (Lacefield et al., 2009).

The procedure for low vegetation category followed the same approach applied for sugarcane category. The FAO Alfalfa suitability map (FAO, 2012b) was used as a proxy indicator to establish the suitability value for each cell with low vegetation (no spatially explicit alfalfa yield maps were available). The mean suitability value for low vegetation was calculated and paired with default average values for above ground biomass (in tons of dry matter/ha) from the grassland category in the 2006 IPCC guidelines (stable yields over time). A cross multiplication was used to obtain aboveground biomass values from each correspondent suitability value. It must be highlighted that root to shoot (R) values vary depending on climatic zones (Table 1). Equation 2 was applied for each cell and default CF for herbaceous grassland from the 2006 IPCC guidelines was applied (Table 1). The mean pair process was repeated for every year changing the mean suitability values for each climatic zone (depending on low vegetation area and given that the other variables remain stable). It must be highlighted that the mean suitability value for each climatic zone (depending on low vegetation area and given that the other variables remain stable). It must

Medium vegetation:

Just as low vegetation, medium vegetation has a wide definition. Medium vegetation not only includes shrubland and woodland but also citrus crops. For the purpose of this theme, it was

² Equation 2 parameters for sugarcane are displayed on Table 1

³ IPCC 2006 has a world climatic zones classification, the ones that cover Sao Paulo extent are: warm moist, tropical moist, tropical wet and tropical montane.

assumed that this category was mainly composed of shrubland. The procedure followed was similar to the one in the low vegetation category. Taking into account that there are not shrubland suitability or biomass spatially explicit maps for the studied time step, alfalfa suitability map was used as a proxy indicator for shrubland suitability. The mean suitability value was also calculated and paired with the tropical above ground biomass average value for shrubland from the 2006 IPCC guidelines (in tons of dry matter/ha). A cross multiplication was used to obtain aboveground biomass values from each cell from the correspondent suitability value. Equation 2 was applied with R and CF default values for shrubland category in the 2006 IPCC guidelines (Table 1). This process was repeated for every year changing the mean suitability value (this values depends on the yearly LUC from this category).

Eucalyptus:

The approach for Eucalyptus category was more simplistic than the other land cover categories. Considering that there were no spatially explicit biomass maps, suitability maps or a coherent proxy indicator suitability map for eucalyptus (no suitability maps from similar trees species were available). This category was classified within Sao Paulo state climatic zones and default values for above ground biomass were given (climatic zone dependable) for Americas Eucalyptus from the 2006 IPCC guidelines (Table 1). Equation 2 was used with R and CF default values for Americas Eucalyptus (Table 1). This process was repeated for every year (given that the land cover category area changes but the other variables remain constant).

Annual cropland:

Given the lifecycle of annual crops, there is no change in biomass carbon content for annual crops (IPCC, 2006). The carbon from biomass that has grown during the year is harvested at the end of it (giving a net balance of 0) (IPCC, 2006). Additionally, annual cropland area transformed to sugarcane is cleared before cultivation. For these reasons the biomass content of this category was assumed as zero.

Water and Urban:

For the last two land cover categories it is assumed no presence of biomass. Therefore, the carbon content of these categories in relation to biomass is 0.

2.3.1.2 CO₂ emission from sugarcane expansion (biomass):

Integrating spatially the carbon content from each land cover category resulted in a spatially explicit Sao Paulo state total carbon content map (for each specific year). The carbon stock map from the state was used in equation 1 as C_{t1} . For C_{t2} in equation 1 only sugarcane carbon content was used (from the next consecutive correspondent year, and was calculated for each year). This was made with the purpose of calculating only the carbon content difference from the expansion of sugarcane plantations and sugarcane plantations already in use. Equation 1 was applied to establish the change in the biomass carbon pool for each subsequent years (2004-2005, 2005-2006 and so on). Each sugarcane C_{t2} cell was subtracted from the

corresponding cell (spatially) in C_{t1} . Finally, the ΔC was multiplied by the CO₂ emission factor (-44/12) to obtain t CO₂ emissions/ha year from LUC towards sugarcane (IPCC,2006).

Land cover	Climatic zone	Dry matter content (% of fresh weight)	Average above ground biomass (ton of dry matter/ha)	R	CF
Sugarcane	All	28 ^A	N.A.	0.18 ^A	0.43 ^B
Forest	Pan tropical	N.A.	Spatially- specific values ^C	(0.20 ^{for<125ton/ha}) ^D (0.24 ^{for>125ton/ha}) ^D	0.47 ^D
Low vegetation	Warm moist Tropical moist and wet	N.A.	1.6 ^D 6.2 ^D	2.8 ^D 1.6 ^D	0.47 ^D
Medium vegetation	Tropical	N.A.	80 ^D	0.40 ^D	0.50 ^D
Eucalyptus	Tropical wet Tropical moist Tropical mountain system	N.A.	200 ^D 90 ^D 75 ^D	0.24 ^D 0.20 ^D 0.20 ^D	0.47 ^D
Annual cropland	N/A	vitabile et al 21	N/A	N/A	Assumed to be 0 ^D

Table 1. Input data to calculate above and below round biomass and carbon content for each land use category

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was performed with the relevant land cover categories and parameters to analyze how these influence the results. It must be highlighted that the analysis was performed for only one harvest year (2012-2011). Sugarcane, medium and low vegetation are the relevant land cover categories for this section. The sugarcane expansion is mostly occurring on the low vegetation land cover category and in less degree on medium vegetation (it is also occurring on the annual cropland but the biomass for this category is assumed to be 0). Furthermore, the sugarcane land cover category is the one most correlated with the CO_2 emissions (especially the yield parameter). The analysis was conducted by shifting the relevant parameter from each land cover category to the maximum or minimum value present in the IPCC 2006 guidelines while leaving the other categories unchanged. Table 2 summarizes the input data used for the sensitivity analysis from the biomass section.

Land cover	Year	Climatic zone	Average above ground biomass (ton of dry matter/ha)	Yield	Max	Min
Sugarcane	2012	-	-	78.86 ^B	DG	DG
	2013	-	-	80.39 ^B	85.54 ^{BC}	72.10 ^{BC}
		Warm moist	1.6 ^A	-	2.8 ^A	0.4 ^A
Low	All					
vegetation		Tropical	6.2 ^A	-	10.85 ^A	1.55 ^A
		moist and				
		wet				
Medium	All	Tropical	80 ^A	-	90 ^A	40 ^A
vegetation						
^A (IPCC, 2006) ^B (IBGE, 2015) ^C (The max and min values for sugarcane were the maximum and minimum yield values from						
the studies time)						

Table 2 Parameters used for the sensitivity analysis for the CO₂ emissions from the biomass section

2.3.1.3. CO₂ emissions from Soil Organic Carbon (SOC)

Given that land use and land management have a large impact on organic C, the 2006 IPCC guidelines focus on methods estimating SOC (IPCC, 2006). There is a large difference on how the land use and management practices affect SOC in mineral versus organic soil types (IPCC, 2006). SOC is one of the most important components of soil; it determines the plants grow capacity, is the main source of energy and nutrients for microorganism and it also has an important role in nutrient retention, water holding capacity and soil structure (Paul, 2014).

Following IPCC 2006 guidelines procedures in combination with FAO soil types (FAO, 2015c) map and FAO climate regimes map (FAO, 2015d), Sao Paulo state was classified according to 2006 IPCC guidelines climate and soil type categorization. After the categorization, there was no presence of organic soils and the carbon stock change in soils was conducted for mineral soils. It was assumed that soils were in equilibrium for each reference year and default soil organic carbon stock values for mineral soils (ton of C/ ha in 0-30 cm depth) were assigned to each land cover category (IPCC, 2006). For urban areas, it was assumed that all was built in and that there was no SOC storage in the first 30 cm depth. The same assumption was made for water. Following equation 3, as there was no presence of organic soils and the inorganic soil net flux is 0 for tier 1 and 2 (IPCC, 2006). The unit of measurement for this section is t CO₂-eq/ha year

In order to obtain the SOC (in tonnes of carbon per hectare in the first 30 cm soil depth) for each land cover category, the reference carbon content from each land cover category was multiplied by the correspondent soil stock change factors (Equation 4). Similar to the biomass carbon pool, the land cover categories were integrated into a Sao Paulo state SOC map (used as SOC₁ in Equation 3). Equation 3 was applied to establish the difference in SOC for each subsequent year (2004-2005, 2005-2006 and so on, t_1 correspond to the first year and t_2 to the second consecutive year). It must be highlighted that for SOC_{t2} only sugarcane SOC was

used. This was made with the purpose of focusing on the SOC change from the expansion of sugarcane plantations and the ones already in sugarcane use. Each sugarcane SOC_{t2} cell was subtracted from the corresponding cell in SOC_{t1}. $\Delta C_{Mineral}$ was multiplied with the CO₂ emission factor (- 44/12) to obtain t CO₂ emissions/ha from SOC changes towards sugarcane expansion and current use

Equation 3

$$\Delta C_{Mineral} = \frac{(SOC_{t2} - SOC_{t1})}{D}$$
$$SOC = SOC * F_{LU} * F_{MG} * F_{I} * A$$

 $\Delta C_{\text{Mineral}}$ = annual change in carbon stocks in mineral soils, tons of C/year

 SOC_{t1} = soil organic carbon at time _{t1}, tons of C/ha

 SOC_{t2} = soil organic carbon at time t2, tons of C/ha

SOC = soil organic carbon stock, tons of C/ha

D = time dependence of stock change factors, if using default values D = 20 years to reach equilibrium

A = 1 hectare is the area measure for this study.

 F_{LU} = stock change factor for land use system or subsystem for a particular land use, dimensionless

 F_{MG} = stock change factor for management regime, dimensionless

 F_I = stock change factor for input of organic matter, dimensionless

Default values for SOC are dependable on soil type and climate, the variation between SOC in land covers is driven mainly by the soil stock change factors. Each land cover was classified according to the most adequate stock change factor value. Following IPCC procedures, the study assumes that carbon stock from areas without changes (no LUC) remain stable (for the SOC section). Table 3 displays the stock change factors used for each land cover (climatic zone dependable). The following section explains for each land cover category how the stock change factors were selected. Additionally, Table 5 presents the geographical input data used to calculate the CO_2 emission from LUC.

Sugarcane:

In 2007, Sao Paulo state authorities with the help of sugarcane associations signed a protocol (Green protocol) in order to change the traditional sugarcane harvesting (which applies fire) to what is known today as green harvesting (Franca et al., 2014). The protocol focused mainly on changing the pre-harvest burn practice (traditional method) to mechanical harvest (collects the stalks and leaves the residues on the field) practices for 2014 in mechanized areas and 2017 in non-mechanized areas (Galdos et al., 2009). It is expected that management practice changes occurring in sugarcane areas will contribute deeply to the sustainability of the sector (Panosso et al., 2009). F_{LU} values were selected assuming long term cultivated areas. F_{MG} factor refers mainly to till practices, given that sugarcane plantations have reduced till practices due its perennial lifecycle and 6 year harvest cycle (Macedo et al., 2008); F_{MG} values were selected for reduced till. F_{I} values are related to input level and returned residues.

For the first time period (2004-2014) low F_I values were selected given that pre-burn practice is implemented and residues are burned. Taking into account the prohibition of the pre-burn harvest from 2014 (Franca et al., 2014) and that mechanical harvest leaves high amounts of residues on the plantation area (De Figueiredo and La Scala, 2011), high input F_I values were selected for the (2014-2015) time period.

Forest:

For the forest category, all the stock change factors have a default value of 1 (IPCC, 2006).

Low vegetation:

As mentioned before, the low vegetation category has a broad definition and includes rangeland, managed and planted pastures and grasslands. Stock change factors were selected separately for the mentioned lands (IPCC, 2006) and mean values were calculated and assigned to the low vegetation category (the mean approach was used given the lack of data to calculate stock change factors as a weighted average). Several components such as moderate degraded grasslands (in Sao Paulo state affected by grazing for cattle production (Carvalho, 2006)), permanent grasslands values and medium input values were taken into account to select the correspondent default stock change factor.

Medium vegetation:

The procedure for this category was similar to the one implemented with the low vegetation category. Medium vegetation includes shrubland, rangeland and even tree fruit cropland. Stock change factors were selected separately for the mentioned lands following 2006 IPCC procedures. Then, mean values were calculated and assigned to the medium vegetation category. Stock change factors for shrubland have a default value of 1 (IPCC, 2006). For rangeland, F_{LU} values were selected assuming long term rangelands. The management factor was assumed for moderate degraded grasslands (Carvalho, 2006) and the input stock change factor has a default value of 1 (IPCC, 2006). Regarding citrus, F_{LU} values were selected assuming long term citrus plantations. The other stock change factors were assumed as no tillage and low input level (Coltro et al., 2009)

Eucalyptus:

Stock change factors for this category were assigned taking into account the agricultural process from the Americas Eucalyptus. In Brazil, the eucalyptus has a 7 year rotation process with soil tillage before harvesting (Manavakun, 2014). No soil tillage was assigned for management practice. Other stock change factors values are default values of 1 for Agroforestry (IPCC, 2006)

Annual cropland:

Annual cropland stock change factors were selected taking into account the yearly harvest cycle (from germination to the production of seed in one year). Close to 50% of Brazil's annual cropland is harvested with no tillage practices (de Freitas and Landers, 2014), the

reduced tillage value was assigned for F_{MG} (IPCC,2006). F_{LU} values were selected assuming long term cultivated areas with annual cropland. It is almost impossible to determine the numerous different annual croplands in this category which could lead to different input levels; it was assumed a medium input level value.

Land cover	Climatic zone	$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{LU}}^{\mathbf{A}}$	$\mathbf{F_{MG}}^{A}$	$\mathbf{F_{I}}^{A}$
	Warm moist	0.69	1.08	0.92
Sugarcane 2004-2014	Tropical moist/wet	0.48	1.15	0.92
	Tropical montane	0.64	1.09	0.94
	Warm moist	0.69	1.08	1
Sugarcane 2014-2015	Tropical moist/wet	0.48	1.15	1
	Tropical montane	0.64	1.09	1
Forest	All	1	1	1
	Warm moist	0.896	1.016	1
Low vegetation	Tropical moist/wet	0.826	1.053	1
	Tropical montane	0.88	1.026	1
	Warm moist	1	1.016	0.973
Medium vegetation	Tropical moist/wet	1	1.053	0.973
	Tropical montane	1	1.026	0.98
	Warm moist	1	1.15	1
Eucalyptus	Tropical moist/wet	1	1.22	1
	Tropical montane	1	1.16	1
	Warm moist	0.69	1.08	1
Annual cropland	Tropical moist/wet	0.48	1.15	1
	Tropical montane	0.64	1.09	1
$^{A}(IPCC, 2006)$				

Table 3. SOC stock change factors employed for each land cover category

Sensitivity analysis

Different from the CO_2 emissions from the biomass section, the emissions from the SOC parameter depend exclusively from the LUC. As mentioned before, the methodology assumes that there are no SOC changes in sugarcane maintaining areas. Furthermore, each soil type has a carbon stock reference value regardless of the land cover type. The spatial difference between land cover categories carbon stock is manly ruled by the stock change factors (F_{LU} , F_{MG} , F_I). A sensitivity analysis was also conducted for this section (for the 2004-2005 harvest year) with the relevant land cover categories. Low vegetation, medium vegetation and annual croplands are the relevant land cover categories given that sugarcane is expanding the most in those land cover categories. Stock change factors were shifted to their maximum and minimum correspondent values while leaving the other parameters unchanged. Additionally, sugarcane stock change factors were also analyzed. Table 4 summarizes the input data used for the sensitivity analysis from the SOC section.

Land cover	Climatic zone	$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{L}\mathbf{U}}^{\mathbf{A}}$		F _{MG} ^A		F _I ^A	
		Max	Min	Max	Min	Max	Min
	Warm moist	0.924	0.869	1.116	0.919	N/A	N/A
Low vegetation	Tropical	0.9	0.74	1.153	0.954	N/A	N/A
	moist/wet						
	Tropical	0.986	0.773	1.476	0.577	N/A	N/A
	montane						
	Warm moist	1.16	0.83	1.14	0.919	1.016	0.93
Medium	Tropical	1.16	0.83	1.152	0.953	1.016	0.93
vegetation	moist/wet						
	Tropical	1.16	0.83	1.476	0.577	1.136	0.823
	montane						
	Warm moist	0.773	0.607	1.134	1.026	1.048	0.791
Sugarcane	Tropical	0.7	0.26	1.234	1.058	1.048	0.791
	moist/wet						
	Tropical	0.96	0.32	1.635	0.545	1.41	0.47
	montane						
	Warm moist	0.773	0.607	1.134	1.026	N/A	N/A
Annual cropland	Tropical	0.7	0.26	1.234	1.058	N/A	N/A
	moist/wet						
	Tropical	0.96	0.32	1.635	0.545	N/A	N/A
	montane						
$^{A}(IPCC, 2006)$							

Table 4 Parameters used for the sensitivity analysis for the CO₂ emissions from the SOC section

Table 5 Geographical input data used to calculate CO₂ emissions

Input data	Reference
Brazil land cover data set (2004:2015)	(TUD, 2016)
Crop suitability index for sugarcane	(FAO, 2012a)
Crop suitability index for alfalfa	(FAO, 2012b)
Biomass forest map	(Avitabile et al., 2016)
Thermal regimes: thermal climates	(FAO, 2012c)
Soil types	(FAO, 2012d)

2.4 Biodiversity

Land use change has been identified as one of the main drivers of global biodiversity loss (De Baan et al., 2013). Furthermore, agricultural expansion is seen as one of the major threats to biodiversity loss (Dirzo and Raven, 2003). Several methodologies have been developed to measure biodiversity impacts from land use changes that vary in great extent from each other. Traditional methods such as species richness or species inventories mostly include direct measurements on the field (Pereira et al., 2013). Nevertheless, field samples are expensive and time consuming to process for a whole state as Sao Paulo. Other studies have used landscape indicators as proxy indicators to determine the biodiversity status of an area (McGarigal and Cushman, 2002; Fahrig, 2003). Furthermore, different models such as the GLOBIO model have been developed to estimate the impact on biodiversity from different drivers such as LUC. Other types of models such as statistical models are used to determine

biodiversity distribution and possible impacts in those areas (Ferrier and Guisan, 2006). However, these types of models demand high amounts of specific input data. In this study, the impact of land use change induced from sugarcane on biodiversity was measured by 3 different approaches. These approaches were selected based on the available input data (LUC being the most important) and model knowledge needed for the processing. Each approach is explained in the correspondent sub-section. The Mean Species Abundance (MSA) indicator was the only one used for the results integration section and for the sensitivity analysis for this section.

2.4.1 Protected areas

The status of Protected Area (PA) is given to a region due to its ecological, social and economic importance (Watson et al, 2014). These areas are at the core of efforts towards conserving nature and the services they provide to people (IUCN, 2013). In addition to the crucial objective of conserving biodiversity (Le Saout et al, 2013), well-managed protected areas can provide crucial ecosystem services and now PA's are also seen as crucial components of global climate change mitigation efforts (Watson et al, 2014). Conversely, land use change is one of the most important factors leading to biodiversity and habitat loss (Falcucci et al, 2007). It is well known that changes in land cover are mostly caused by deforestation, agriculture and urban expansion (Ellis and Porter-Bolland, 2008). Consequently, PA's are seen as one of the most important tools in conserving biodiversity with in their limits from possible land use change dynamics (Le Saout et al, 2013).

The land use change within protected areas induced from sugarcane expansion (sugarcane expanding within PA's) was used as a proxy indicator to determine biodiversity impacts. Brazil's protected areas are categorized within two major groups (strict PA's and sustainable use PA's). Strict PA's are focused mainly on ecosystem protection, scientific research and education (Rylands and Brandon, 2005). Activities such as agriculture are forbidden in these areas. Different from strict PA's, sustainable use PA's can be exploited for natural resources in a sustainable way (that includes agriculture and other practices that may affect biodiversity dynamics) (Rylands and Brandon, 2005). Taking into account that biodiversity might be affected in sustainable use PA's given anthropogenic activities and that strict PA's are focused mainly on ecosystem protection (Rylands and Brandon, 2005), only strict PA's were assessed in this study (it is assumed that they are better proxy indicator than sustainable use PA's). Strict PA's are subdivided into: National park, Biological reserve, Ecological station, Wildlife refuge and Natural monument. The strict PA's data⁴ was clipped into Sao Paulo state extent (Filtered to assess PA's located only in Sao Paulo state) and then intersected with the land cover data. The process was repeated for each year in order to obtain the yearly dynamics from sugarcane plantations expansion (if present) inside PA's. More than 20 strictly PA's were found in Sao Paulo state. Some PA's extent trespass Sao Paulo state limits (for this the area of PA's only located in Sao Paulo state were quantified). All the PA's area was added and normalized 5.

⁴ Obtained from the Brazilian biodiversity conservation institute Chico Mendes(ICMBio, 2016)

⁵ Getting the all PA's area values into a common scale, % of total PA's area

2.4.2 Land cover change dynamics (forest category)

Land cover change dynamics have become an essential mechanism in evaluating the consequence of anthropogenic activity in the environment and landscape (Dunn, 2004). It is recognized that land cover changes have major consequences in all biodiversity levels (Tallmon et al., 2003). Furthermore, these changes may lead to alteration in biotic diversity, and primary productivity (Flamenco-Sandoval et al., 2007). Several studies have used changes in land cover classes (especially forest land cover) as proxy indicators to reveal changes in habitats and biodiversity in different regions (Flamenco-Sandoval et al., 2007; Texeira et al., 2009; Abdullah and Nakagoshi 2007). Changes in forest land cover category can also be used as a proxy indicator (Farhtig, 2003). Therefore, measuring land use changes in forest land cover category can be used as a proxy indicator for biodiversity status in an area.

Land cover change is a dynamic process and just as cover loss (forest cover), regeneration processes also occur. The net balance analysis (difference between cover loss and regeneration) has become a crucial part of the land cover change dynamics analysis (Flamenco-Sandoval et al., 2007). Deforestation dynamics from sugarcane expansion for the whole Sao Paulo state were analyzed for each year of the studied time step (2004-2015). The analysis was conducted mainly for the forest category (total forest area) taking into account deforestation areas, regeneration area and net balance analysis. Additionally, 3 landscapes indicators (number of patches, percentage of landscape and patch density) were measured and analyzed spatially for the forest category was assumed as the number of cells that change from forest to sugarcane. Each patch was defined as the number of neighboring cells (or just one cell) from the same category that were transformed, otherwise, the patch size is 1 km² (given the maps resolution). Percentage of landscape is the area that is deforested in relation to the total forest category area from sugarcane expansion. Patch density was calculated as the number of patches in 100 ha of forest area.

2.4.3 Mean species abundance (MSA)

MSA is a biodiversity indicator defined as "the remaining mean species abundance of original species, relative to their abundance in pristine or primary vegetation, which are assumed to be not disturbed by human activities for a prolonged period" (Alkemade et al., 2009). MSA is normally measured by the GLOBIO model with input data from the Integrated Model to Assess the Global Environment (IMAGE). The model works without any biodiversity distribution information; instead it uses a causal-effect relationship between environmental drivers and biodiversity impacts (Alkemade et al., 2009). Land use change, atmospheric nitrogen deposition, infrastructure, fragmentation and climate change are the drivers included in the model (Alkemade et al., 2009). For the purpose of this study (taking into account that land use change is the main axis from this study), land use change is the only environmental driver that was taken into account. However, the MSA indicator is restricted for terrestrial ecosystems (water land cover category was not evaluated) (Alkemade et al., 2009).

The MSA indicator varies from 0-1; being 1 a pristine original ecosystem with species abundance not affected by human activities and 0 the opposite. Each land cover category has a different MSA land use value (depending on description). Alkemade et al., (2009) assigned MSA values to different land cover categories based on literature review. The land cover categories from this study were related to the ones from Alkemade et al., (2009) and MSA values were assigned (Table 6). Subsequently, the MSA per cell was calculated for each harvest year (2004-2005, 2005-2006 and so on) taking into account sugarcane land cover area dynamics. The yearly change was classified into 5 categories depending on the land cover that was transformed into sugarcane. Positive change is defined as areas where the MSA land use value increases due to sugarcane expansion in 0-0.3 MSA land use score. No change areas are the ones that stay constant with the same MSA land use value (sugarcane remaining sugarcane). Negative change areas are the ones with a negative change (reduction of MSA score) from 0-0.3 MSA land use. Negative change - areas are the ones with a reduction between 0.3-0.6 MSA score. Negative change - areas are the ones with bigger change than 0.6 MSA land use score.

Land cover category	MSA land use score		
Urban	0.05 ^A		
Water	N.A.		
Forest	1 ^B		
Eucalyptus	0.5 ^C		
Low vegetation	0.6^{D}		
Medium vegetation	$0.75^{\rm E}$		
Sugarcane	0.3 ^F		
Annual cropland	$0.1^{ m G}$		
^A Value from artificial land cover category (Alkemade et al., 2009); ^B Values from forest land cover category primary vegetation (Alkemade et al., 2009); ^C Value from secondary forest land cover category (Alkemade et al., 2009); ^D Mean value from grass or shrubland, livestock grazing and man-made pastures land cover categories (Alkemade et al., 2009); ^E Mean value from grass or shrubland and agroforestry land cover categories (Alkemade et al., 2009); ^F Value from Low-input agriculture land cover category and perianal bioenergy crop (Alkemade et al., 2009) (van Rooij, 2008); ^G Value from intensive agriculture land cover category (Alkemade et al., 2009)			

Table 6 MSA land use value assigned to this stud	dy land cover categories
--	--------------------------

Sensitivity analysis

Following the same approach from the biomass and SOC section, the sensitivity analysis for the MSA was conducted for the relevant land cover categories. Low vegetation, medium vegetation, annual cropland and sugarcane were the relevant land cover categories given that LUC dynamics for sugar expansion in Sao Paulo state occur mainly between them. MSA land use parameter was changed to the maximum or minimum score (depending on land cover) while leaving the other land cover categories unchanged. The 2007-2006 harvest year was used for the analysis and sugarcane maintaining values were not accounted (no change score). It must be highlighted that the standard error from the land cover categories regarding the MSA score is low, different from some parameters in the IPCC 2006 guidelines used in the other sections. For the analysis only the LUC result (reference value) was taken into account

(The value for sugarcane maintaining areas stay constant) Table 7 summarizes the input data used for the analysis from the MSA section.

Land cover category	MSA land use score		
	Max	Min	
Low vegetation	0.62 ^D	0.58 ^D	
Medium vegetation	0.77 ^E	0.73 ^E	
Sugarcane	0.34 ^F	0.26 ^F	
Annual cropland	0.11 ^G	0.09 ^G	

Table 7 Parameters used for the sensitivity analysis for the Biodiversity section

DMean value from grass or shrubland, livestock grazing and man-made pastures land cover categories (Alkemade et al., 2009); EMean value from grass or shrubland and agroforestry land cover categories (Alkemade et al., 2009); FValue from Low-input agriculture land cover category and perianal bioenergy crop (Alkemade et al., 2009) (van Rooij, 2008); GValue from intensive agriculture land cover category (Alkemade et al., 2009).

2.5 Water quantity

Water availability is strongly linked with LUC dynamics; these dynamics directly affect fresh water supplies (especially with agricultural expansion) and may trigger water stress in different areas (Foley et al., 2005). Furthermore LUC dynamics can disturb the water balance and affect regional hydrological water cycles (Goldemberg et al., 2008). Studies have highlighted how changing the land use to other purposes (especially agriculture) may cause changes in precipitation, evapotranspiration, runoff, and groundwater flow (Foley et al., 2005; Tong et al., 2012; Baker and Miller, 2013). Evapotranspiration is one of the major components of the water balance and it is crop dependent (Allen et al., 1998). Furthermore, this component also depends on several other variables such as growing stage of the crop, climatic conditions and soil type and quality (Allen et al., 1998). Different methodologies such as the L-THIA/NPS GIS model have been developed to analyze potential water depletion from LUC (Bhaduri et al., 2000). Nevertheless, applying these methods demand a high degree of knowledge in modelling and specific regional and temporal data. Just as for all the other EI's, the calculations were completed not only for sugarcane expansion area but also for the existing areas of sugarcane use.

A water balance approach has been used in several other studies addressing the potential water shortage from LUC due to bioenergy crops (van Dam et al., 2009; van der Hilst et al., 2012). This study followed the same approach by comparing sugarcane evapotranspiration to the effective precipitation of the region. This process was done spatially and temporal explicit and completed for each of the correspondent harvest years. This was done with the purpose to identify if the current sugarcane plantations areas were undergoing water shortage. Equation 4 describes the water depletion in reference to bioenergy crops production (van Dam et al., 2009).

Equation 4

$$WS_i = ((ET_{0i} * K_{ci}) - EP_i)$$

Where:

$$\begin{split} WS &= \text{Total water shortage in month i, mm/month} \\ ET_i &= \text{Reference evapotranspiration of month i, mm/month} \\ Kc_i &= \text{Crop evapotranspiration coefficient for specific growth stage in month i, dimensionless} \\ EP_i &= \text{Effective precipitation in month i, mm/month} \\ i &= \text{Month January to December} \end{split}$$

Sugarcane in Brazil has a semi-perennial ratoon cycle and it grows approximately for 12 (year sugarcane) or 18 months (year-and-half sugarcane) depending on sugarcane variety (Rudorff et al., 2010). In the south-central region, where Sao Paulo state is located, sugarcane harvesting extends from April to December (Rudorff et al., 2010). Sugarcane growing stages (number of days) differ from sugarcane virgin to sugar cane ratoon (Allen et al., 1998). Given the impossibility to identify spatially between virgin sugarcane and sugarcane ratoon, each growing stage length (number of days) was calculated as an average from virgin sugarcane and sugarcane ratoon. Table 8 illustrates sugarcane growing stages with their correspondent Kc values (the total number of days is more than a year given the extended growing time of the virgin sugarcane cycle is completed in 12 months (year sugarcane) and harvested in April. Considering the time frame of the sugarcane growing stage, the initial season was assumed for the month of April, the Mid-season from May to December and the late season from January to March⁶. In order to obtain specific sugarcane evapotranspiration values, the Kc values were multiplied with ET₀ as shown in equation 4

Growing stage (number of days) ^A	Kc values (dimensionless) ^A
Initial (40 days)	0.45
Mid-season (260 days)	1.25
Late season (100 days)	0.75
^A (Allen et al., 1998)	

Table 8 Kc values assigned to each corresponded sugarcane growing stage

Effective precipitation (EP) is the amount of precipitation that is actually added and stored in the soil (Brouwer and Heibloem, 1986). EP is calculated from actual precipitation, and for this study, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) formula (equation 5) present in the CROPWAT 8.0 model was used. Actual precipitation data was extracted from the Brazilian National Meteorological institute (INMET Portuguese acronym). Long term monthly precipitation averages from 1961-1990 data were retrieved from the conventional meteorological stations located in Sao Paulo Minas Gerais, Parana, Rio de Janeiro and Mato Grosso do sul states⁷. Precipitation averages were retrieved from Sao Paulo and neighboring states in order to interpolate and obtain precipitation values for the whole Sao Paulo state through The accessed the INMET extension. data was network (http://www.inmet.gov.br/portal/index.) (INMET, 2016), this network only allows access to conventional stations (Automatic stations data was not available). Each station location was

⁶ ET₀ and EP average reference maps were calculated with the same time frame from each different sugarcane growing stage (in order for time frames of all variables to match)

⁷ Long term averages were used given the lack of data for other climatic parameters such as temperature for the studied time step (2004-2005)

processed through ArcGIS in Sao Paulo state map (and neighboring states). Effective precipitation was calculated (with equation 5) for each station on a monthly basis and then interpolated with the Inverse Distance Weighted (IDW) method from the ArcGIS toolbox (based on stations location) to obtain a spatially explicit effective precipitation reference map for each month in Sao Paulo state. Taking into account sugarcane grow stages and harvest time defined by the Kc values, 3 different EP reference maps were developed. This was made with the intention to evaluate if there was any water deficit in the different growing stages of Brazilian sugarcane. Each EP reference map is based on monthly averages of different consecutive months. The first map considers the time step from January to March, the second one corresponds to April and the third one from May to December.

Equation 5

$$EP_i = \left(P_i * \left(\frac{125 - *0.2P_i}{125}\right)\right)$$

Where:

 $EP_i = Effective precipitation in month i, mm/month$ $P_i = precipitation in month i, mm/month$

The evapotranspiration rate from a reference surface is called the reference crop evapotranspiration or reference evapotranspiration (ET0) (Allen et al., 1998) This values is calculated assuming hypothetical grass reference and as mentioned before, multiplying this value with crop specific Kc values results in specific crop evapotranspiration rate (depending on growing stage). The study applied the Penman-Monteith methodology (equation 6) which is the most widely method applied for calculating ET_0 (van der Hilst et al., 2012). Solar radiation, air temperature, air humidity and wind speed are the meteorological factors that determine ET_{0.} Long term monthly averages were used for maximum temperature, minimum temperature, mean temperature and relative humidity. It was not possible to establish long term monthly averages for wind speed and actual number of hours of solar duration; for these two elements a mean monthly value was calculated from 2004-2015 time step. The required data was accessed through the INMET network (http://www.inmet.gov.br/portal/index.) for the same stations as in the EP section (INMET, 2016). ET_0 was calculated for each station (equation 6) and then interpolated with the Inverse Distance Weighted (IDW) method from the ArcGIS toolbox to obtain a ET₀ reference map for Sao Paulo state. ET₀ reference maps were developed with the same monthly averages division as in the EP section. In consequence, 3 different ET₀ reference maps were developed and used in equation 4. It must be highlighted that ET₀ and EP reference maps (with the monthly division) are the same for each harvest year.

Equation 6

$$ET_0 = \frac{0.408\Delta(R_n - G) + \gamma \frac{900}{T + 273} U_2(e_s - e_a)}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + 0.34U_2)}$$

ET_{0i} = Reference evapotranspiration of month i, mm/month R_n = net radiation at the crop surface, MJ/m² month, G = soil heat flux density, MJ/m² T = air temperature, °C u_2 = wind speed, m/s e_s = saturation vapour pressure, kPa e_a = actual vapour pressure, kPa $e_s - e_a$ = saturation vapour pressure deficit, kPa Δ = slope vapour pressure curve, kPa/°C γ = psychrometric constant kPa °C

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis for this section is different from the other indicators. Given that this category is more dependable on biophysical characteristics such as crop evapotranspiration coefficients, the sensitivity analysis was conducted for each sugarcane growing stage. The Kc sugarcane parameter for each growing stage was changed to the maximum and minimum score while leaving the other variables constant (effective precipitation). The 2014-2015 harvest was used for the analysis and table 9 summarizes the input data used for this section analysis.

Table 9 Kc values assigned to each corresponded sugarcane growing stage for the sensitivity analysis

Growing stage (number of	Kc values (dimensionless) ^A	
days) ^A	Max	Min
Initial (40 days)	0.6	0.4
Mid-season (260 days)	1.3	1
Late season (100 days)	1.05	0.6
A(Allen et al. 1998)		

2.6 Soil erosion

Soil erosion is a natural process driven by water and wind; nevertheless human activities have enhanced this process through land cover alterations (Yang et al., 2003). In the last years, soil degradation has been identified as one of the most important environmental threats to the sustainability and productive capacity of agriculture (Yang et al., 2003; Pimentel, 2006). LUC not only enhances soil erosion directly (mainly through agricultural processes and deforestation), it also disturbs it indirectly through the disruption of natural cycles (water cycle, carbon cycle, etc) (Yang et al., 2003). In Brazil, soil degradation as a consequence of erosion is one of the major issues linked to sugarcane cultivation (Martinelli and Filoso, 2008). Soil erosion in sugarcane cultivation areas (due to management practices) tends to be high in comparison to other land covers such as pasture lands and forest (Politano and Pissarra, 2005). A large number of methodologies to measure soil erosion such as soil erosion measure by plots have been used in the past years (Boix-Fayos et al., 2006). However, applying these techniques demands extensive field work. Alternatively, numerous soil erosion models have been developed (European soil erosion model, Limburg soil erosion site, 2016). Nonetheless, the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE) is the most frequently used and accepted equation to estimate soil erosion (Laflen and Moldenhauer, 2003)

The RUSLE equation is an empirical based model derived from the Universal Soil Loss Equation (USLE) (Wischmeier and Smith 1978). RUSLE enables the calculation of annual rate of soil erosion spatially and it is driven by five major factors (rainfall pattern, soil type, topography, crop system, and management practices) (Renard et al., 1997). RUSLE is commonly applied into GIS environments and the calculations are performed for each cell from the grid/raster (Fu et al., 2006). Equation 7 describes the annual rate of soil erosion driven by the 5 major factors (Renard et al., 1997). The calculations were done on a yearly basis and take into account sugarcane land cover current use (2004 base map) and sugarcane cultivation expansion. It must be highlighted that this study focused only on soil erosion cause by the action of water.

Equation 7

$$A = R * K * LS * C * P$$

Where:

A = Soil loss, t/ha year

R = Rainfall-runoff erosivity factor MJ mm/ha h year

K = Soil erodibility factor t ha h/ha MJ mm

L = Slope-length factor, dimensionless

S = Slope steepness factor, dimensionless

C = Cover management factor, dimensionless

P = Conservation support practice factor, dimensionless

Rain-runoff erosivity factor (R)

Rainfall erosivity is defined as the aggressiveness of the rain to cause erosion and the original R factor for any given period is obtained by summing for each rainstorm, the product of total storm energy (E) and the maximum 30-min intensity (I30) (Wischmeier and Smith 1978). Nevertheless, pluviometry data with that level of detail was not available for Sao Paulo state. Numerous authors have estimated the R value by using monthly and annual precipitation averages by the means of the Fournier index equation 8 (Bertoni and Lombardi, 1985; Neto and Moldenhauer, 1992; Renard and Freimund, 1994; da Silva, 2004; Kouli et al. 2009). Furthermore numerous authors have found strong relationships between the Fournier index and annual values of R (Bertoni and Lombardi Neto, 1985). These relationships (equations) between R and Fournier index are ideally computed with over 20 year rainfall data and depend on local conditions (Bertoni and Lombardi Neto, 1985). In Brazil, these relations (equations) have been calculated for different regions finding a strong relationship with linear or exponential equations (da Silva, 2004). Neto and Modenhauer (1992) defined an equation

for a municipality in Sao Paulo state with more than 20 year of precipitation data. Following the same approach as da silva (2004), this study used Neto and Modenhauer (1992) equation to relate Fournier index values to calculate R values for the Sao Paulo state region (equation 8).

Equation 8

$$Cc_{i} = \frac{M_{i}^{2}}{P}$$
$$R = \sum_{i=1}^{12} 68.730 * Cc_{i}^{0.841}$$

Where:

CC = Fournier index for month i, dimensionless M = Monthly value of precipitation for month i, mm P = Annual precipitation, mm R = Rainfall-runoff erosivity factor MJ mm/ha h year

Precipitation monthly data was retrieved from the conventional meteorological stations located in Sao Paulo Minas Gerais, Parana, Rio de Janeiro and Mato Grosso do sul states for the 2004-2015 time step. The data was accessed through the INMET network data (INMET, 2016), this network allows only to access conventional stations. 7 out of the 21 station were missing monthly values for some years (1 or 2 monthly values missing), these missing values were replaced with the long term precipitation averages 1961-1990 for the specific missing month from correspondent meteorological station. R values were calculated for each station and interpolated to obtain spatially explicit and temporally (year basis) R maps for Sao Paulo state.

Soil erodibility factor (K)

The K factor is an empirical measure of soil erodibility affected by soil properties (Fu et al. 2006). The main soil properties affecting K are soil texture, organic matter, structure, and permeability of the soil profile (Fu et al. 2006). K values calculations demand detailed field data of soil types such as soil silt %, clay % organic matter %, etc. (Wischmeier and Smith 1978). Other authors have calculated K values by estimating soil variables with high detailed soil type description (Kouli et al. 2009). Given the impossibility of field work and lack of explicitly detailed soil type properties, this study followed the approach from Silva et al., (2005) and Beskow et al., (2009). Based on a literature review, Silva et al., (2005) created a data base of K values for the soil types present in Sao Paulo state (it must be highlighted that the K values in the data base were calculated based on field work). The Brazilian updated soil classes' map was downloaded from IGBE data base (ftp://geoftp.ibge.gov.br) (IBGE,

2006) and clipped into Sao Paulo extent. Based on Silva et al., (2005), K values were assigned to each type of soil to obtain a K spatial map from Sao Paulo state. Different from R values maps; K values map is constant for the entire time step (2004-2015).

Slope-length (L) and slope steepness (S) factors

The slope length factor (L) represents the effect of slope length on erosion, and the slope steepness factor (S) reflects the influence of slope gradient on erosion (Wischmeier and Smith 1978). Originally these values are measured on field taking into account slope length and slope angle (Wischmeier and Smith 1978). Nevertheless, several authors calculate the LS factor by the means of digital elevation models (DEM) (Fu et al., 2006; Kouli et al. 2009; Prasannakumar et al., 2012). Sao Paulo state DEM was downloaded from the Federal University from Rio Grande do Sul data base (http://www.ecologia.ufrgs.br/labgeo), this data base provides the official reference DEM's for all Brazilian states (Weber et al., 2004). There are many formulas capable of calculating LS factors (Kouli et al. 2009). Nevertheless, the LS factor was calculated following the equation from Bizuwerk et al., (2003). Equation 9 describes how the LS factor was calculated.

Equation 9

$$LS = (Flow accumulation * \frac{Cell size}{22.13})^m * (0.065 + 0.045 s + 0.0065 s^2)$$

Where:

LS = combined slope length and slope steepness factor for each cell, dimensionless Flow accumulation = accumulated upslope contributing area for a given cell, dimensionless Cell size = size of grid cell, meters m= value m is a constant varying from 0.2-0.5, dimensionless S = slope gradient, %

Flow accumulation and slope values are required to estimate LS factor. The flow accumulation and slope gradient were computed from the Sao Paulo state DEM using ArcGIS Spatial analyst plus with arc hydro extension toolbox for flow accumulation and slope gradient. The cell resolution from the Sao Paulo state DEM is 30 m. For practical reasons and to avoid less incongruence the LS was calculated with the original cell resolution and then resampled to the same resolution of the other environmental impacts (this had to be done for the integration of EI). m values are given depending of the slope, for slope values bigger than 5% a m value of 0.5 is given, for slopes values between 3-5% a m value of 0.4 is given, for slope values between 1-3 a m value of 0.3 is given and for slope values below 1% a m value of 0.2 is assigned (Wischmeier and Smith, 1978). Just as the k values map, LS map remains constant for the entire time step (2004-2015).

Cover management factor (C)

C factor is defined as the ratio of soil loss from land cropped under specific conditions to the corresponding loss from clean-tilled, continuous fallow (Wischmeier and Smith, 1978). This

value is normally calculated using satellite images and the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) (Prasannakumar et al. 2012) or by empirical equations based on the measurements of variables related to ground covers collected in sample plots (LU et al., 2004). Nevertheless, values for C factor depending on land cover are available in literature. Studies performed in Brazil and Sao Paulo state have calculated different C values for several land cover categories (Hilu, 2003; Ruhoff et al., 2006; Silva et al., 2007; Galdino et al., 2015). It must be highlighted that C values are time dependable (growing stage) and land cover dependable, this study assumed that these values were constant for each land cover (not changing in time) for the entire studied time step (2004-20015). Additionally, the values were assigned based on a literature review from studies performed in Sao Paulo state or Brazil.

C values were assigned following the same approach of Silva et al., (2007). C values were assigned based on literature review for the Sao Paulo state scenario (Silva et al., 2007). Land cover categories were compared with the ones from Silva et al., (2007) and several assumptions were done. Low vegetation category has a wide definition in this study, nevertheless it can be associated with pastureland land cover category (Low vegetation C factor is from pastureland land cover category). Mid vegetation land cover category includes Shrubland, Pastureland and Citrus crops, for this category a mean value was calculated between citrus crops and pastureland from Silva et al., (2007) land cover categories. It must be highlighted that there was no comparable category for shrubland. Given the lack of data for the forest category in Sao Paulo state, this C factor value was adopted from another study performed in Brazil (Ruhoff et al., 2006). The eucalyptus category was assigned the same C factor as the forest one⁸. Similar to R values maps, C values map were also assigned spatially explicit on a yearly basis. However these values are not variating within each land cover category. Table 10 shows the C values assigned to each land cover category.

Land cover	C factor	Reference
Urban	0.12	(da Silva, 1999)
Water	N.A.	N.A.
Forest	0.01	(Ruhoff et al., 2006)
Eucalyptus	0.01	(Ruhoff et al., 2006)
Mid vegetation	0.2	(Silva et al., 2007)
Low vegetation	0.16	(Silva et al., 2007)
Sugarcane	0.17	(Mitchell and Bubenzer,
		1980; Silva et al., 2007)
Annual cropland	0.29	(Ruhoff et al., 2006)

Table 10 C factors for different land cover categories in Sao Paulo state

Conservation support practice factor (P)

The support practice factor (P) represents erosion prevention practices, such as strip-cropping and terracing and varies from 0-1 (being 1 not prevention at all) (Kim et al., 2005). These

⁸ This approach is not the most recommendable, nevertheless given the land use dynamics from Sao Paulo state sugarcane expansion never occurs on eucalyptus land cover. In consequence this assumption is not affecting the results for this or any section.

values are assigned depending on the soil prevention practices adopted locally for each land cover. Nevertheless, most of the studies assign a value of 1 given the lack of significant erosion prevention strategies (Kim et al., 2005; Fu et al., 2006; Kouli et al., 2009; Prasannakumar et al., 2012). The P factor values were assigned following the same approach at in the C values section. The same assumptions were made and values were assigned based on literature review from Silva et al., (2007) methodology. P values maps were also calculated spatially explicit on yearly basis and Table 11 illustrates the P values assigned to each land cover category.

Land cover	P factor	Reference
Urban	1	(da Silva, 1999)
Water	N.A.	N.A.
Forest	0.1	(Ruhoff et al., 2006)
Eucalyptus	0.1	(Ruhoff et al., 2006)
Mid vegetation	0.6	(Silva et al., 2007)
Low vegetation	0.7	(Silva et al., 2007)
Sugarcane	0.7	(Mitchell and Bubenzer,
		1980; Silva et al., 2007)
		(Bertoni and Lombardi Neto,
Annual cropland	0.5	1990; Mitchell and
		Bubenzer, 1980; da Silva,
		1999).

Table 11 P factors for different land cover categories in Sao Paulo state

Sensitivity analysis

The soil erosion indicator is the only that lacks of a sensitivity analysis. There is no standard error % to change the values from P or C factors. Furthermore, the only variable that is changing each year is the R factor. Given this assumption, the results would be correlated to this parameter and would vary depending on the change of the R factor. No sensitivity analysis was considered necessary with the available data.

2.7 Environmental impacts integration

In order to establish spatially the sustainability of the sugarcane production, the EI maps were integrated. The integration was done for each harvest year. Given that the EI are measured in different units, merging them requires certain degree of standardization. Normally, the integration method depends on the study objective (Abaza et al., 2004). A simple reclassification was done and values of 0, 1 or -1 were assigned to each EI. -1 corresponds to a negative impact, 1 to a positive impact and 0 to no impact. This reclassification will help to identify the spatial difference between sustainable (positive values) or unsustainable (negative values) sugarcane production and sugarcane expansion areas.

Regarding CO_2 emissions, it is considered a negative impact if the area is emitting CO_2 and if it is acting as a sink it is considered a positive impact. As to biodiversity, only the MSA indicator was taken into account. If the MSA value is positive, then it is considered a positive

EI and if the value is negative it is considered a negative EI. Regarding to water shortage, positive EI's are assumed when there is a water surplus from sugarcane plantations and negative EI's take place when sugarcane is submitted to water shortage. With regard to soil erosion, negative values are assumed when soil loss is generated and when there is no presence of soil loss no change is assumed. The soil loss parameter lacks a positive effect (given the methodology applied, there is no soil accumulation). Then, each EI's values (with the new reclassification) were summed up and a scale between -4 and 4 was obtained. A score of 4 translates into an area with only positive EI's for all the categories, meanwhile a score of -4 is the opposite. Nevertheless the maximum positive score is 3 given the assumption from the soil parameter. It was assumed that all EI's are equally important.

3. Results

The results section is distributed between each EI and Sao Paulo state land use dynamics. Land use dynamics are highly important given that they are closely related to each EI (main driver). The sensitivity analysis results are also included in each EI section.

3.1 Land use change

Fig. 2 displays the yearly changes in sugarcane plantation area (ha) that are occurring in Sao Paulo state. The sugarcane plantations have increased from 4.17 million hectares in 2004 to 4.95 million hectares in 2015 (Fig .2 (F)). However, in intermediate years the sugarcane area goes as high as 5.38 million hectares in 2012. Sugarcane area was also analyzed without projecting the input data to 1 km² (Using high resolution original maps) and the same magnitude variation was found. Other studies using Landsat type remotely sensed data reported an increase of 2.57 million ha in 2003 to 4.45 million ha in 2008 (Rudorff et al., 2010). Meanwhile, the CANASAT (2016) project has reported a total sugarcane cultivated area of 3.13 million hectares in 2004 to 5.7 million hectares in 2014⁹. The sugarcane expansion dynamics show an expansion, reaching a peak and then decreasing trend (Fig. 2 (A)), this trend is repeated two times in the studied time step. Even if the total area results differ in magnitude from other studies (Uriarte et al., 2009), the sugar expansion trend goes in line with other publications (Adami et al., 2012) (CANASAT, 2016).

Sugarcane plantations have been expanding yearly with a peak value in 2007-2008 harvest season. The sugarcane phenomenon is not only characterized by sugarcane expansion, sugarcane plantations are also shifting into other land cover categories (Fig 2. (B)) almost as the same rate as the sugarcane expansion. Given that the study is only addressing direct land use change and the state is considered a closed system, the real change¹⁰ (Fig. 2 (D)) was in average 0.82 million hectares for the entire time step. This value completely contrasts with other studies sugarcane expansion values¹¹ (Rudorff et al., 2010) (Adami et al., 2012) (CANASAT, 2016) (Nassar et al., 2008). The sugarcane expansion and area transformed to other land cover category in comparison to the remaining area (F), is only a small percentage of it, as reported in other studies (CANASAT, 2016) (Adami et al., 2012). Even if there is a clear expansion, it seems the total sugarcane area tends toward stabilization (Fig 2. (B)).

⁹ Sugarcane land cover definition (including area under renovation) was taken into account for results comparison between all studies.

¹⁰ Difference between sugarcane area expansion and sugarcane change to other land cover categories.

¹¹ Other studies only take into account the sugarcane area expansion and not the one that changes from sugarcane



Fig. 2 Area change from sugarcane land cover in Sao Paulo state

In spatial terms, the sugarcane expansion is occurring mainly in the North and North-West areas of Sao Paulo state for all harvest years¹². The results are relatively similar to the ones reported in other studies with an exception for 2012-2013 harvest season (given the low sugarcane expansion value compared to other studies) (CANASAT, 2016). From the 2014-2013 harvest season and onwards sugarcane is also expanding in the South-West region of the state (annexes A). Fig 3. Sugarcane land cover change, illustrates spatially the sugarcane change in Sao Paulo state for 2007-2008 harvest year. The 2007-2008 harvest years follow the same tendency as all harvest years (annexes A) and most of the sugarcane yearly new plantations are taking place in the North and North-West part of the state. Opposite from sugarcane expansion, the land use change from sugarcane to other land cover category is not following a clear pattern. The transformation for all the harvest years is dispersed along the map taking place where sugarcane is more concentrated. Sugarcane yearly expansion seems to be in line with other studies with some exceptions such as 2012-2013 harvest year (CANASAT, 2016). It must be highlighted that the analysis was done only by visual inspection (lack of data for processing from other studies) and that resulted in a superficial analysis. Two years seem to differ more than others (2012 and 2013) from similar studies (annexes A).

¹² All the yearly sugarcane change maps are in the annexes


Fig. 3 Sugarcane land cover change in Sao Paulo state from 2007-2008

Fig. 4 land cover transformation represents the results from the land use change dynamics observed in Sao Paulo state for the studied time step. The majority of the direct land use change induced from sugarcane expansion (more than 60%) is occurring on the low vegetation category and in less quantity from annual cropland. Other studies have described similar dynamics, reporting sugarcane expansion taking place mainly from pasture land (comparable low vegetation category) and cropland (Nassar et al., 2008) (Adami et al., 2012). Furthermore, in a survey performed by CONAB (Brazilian Supply Company), they also observed similar dynamics with 66% of sugarcane expansion taking place on pasture land and 29% in cropland for the 2007/2008 harvest year (CONAB, 2008). Even in less quantity, all the other land cover categories were transformed into sugar cane plantations with the exception of Eucalyptus. Expansion in Urban and water land cover categories is not common (IPCC, 2006). Nevertheless, sugarcane is also transforming (low quantity) from and into these two other land cover categories in the studied time step. The yearly sugarcane expansion into the forest category is less than 1% for all the years with an exception of 2013, which corresponds to 30% of the entire sugarcane expansion (the value is high given the drastically low sugarcane expansion when compared to other years). Similar studies reported less than 1% of sugarcane expansion in forest land cover (Nassar et al., 2008) (Adami et al., 2012).

The observed dynamics from the direct land use change from sugarcane to other land cover categories (Fig. 4 (B)) follow a similar behavior than the ones from sugarcane expansion. In almost all the harvest years, sugarcane is being transformed to low vegetation and in fewer

amounts to annual cropland. A trade-off relationship between sugarcane expansion and sugarcane change to other land cover categories is taking place mostly with the low vegetation land cover category. Randomly pixels were selected and analyzed through the whole time step to identify possible land cover errors (a pixel changing between sugarcane and other land cover categories and vice versa with yearly basis) and such behavior was not present. Additionally, the same analysis (land cover transformation) was performed with the original input data to determine if the data processing methods (projection and re-sample of the input data to 1 km²) were generating the displayed trade-off trend between land cover categories (especially with low vegetation and the shift of urban and water land cover categories). The same trend was found when processing original land cover input data. Similarities between sugarcane expansion and sugarcane transformed to other land cover categories mainly for the low vegetation land cover category to expand in sugarcane abandoned areas.





Fig 5 and Fig 6 sugarcane transformation corroborate spatially with results from Fig 4 and 3. As mentioned before, the land cover transformation to sugarcane for the 2007-2008 harvest year (Fig 5) comes mainly from the low vegetation land cover category and just as in Fig 3, the land use change due to sugarcane expansion is mainly occurring in the North-West part of the state¹³. The spatial dynamics are similar for the entire studied time, displaying large areas of the low vegetation category changing mainly in the North-West part of the state (annexes A). The annual cropland dynamics are also similar for all the harvest years, and similar to

¹³ T+5he land cover transformation maps and sugarcane transformed to other land cover category maps for all harvest years are found in the annexes for each harvest year.

other studies (Aguiar et al., 2011), shifting mainly in the Northeast part of the state (annexes A). As mentioned before, sugarcane expansion is also occurring in the south part of the state, with areas from low vegetation changing into sugarcane (especially for the last years) (annexes A).

The dynamics are more disperse along the state regarding land use change from sugarcane to other land cover categories. There is not a clear concentrated area where sugarcane is being transformed (mainly to low vegetation) to other land cover category. The dynamics are similar for all the harvest years (annexes A). Urban and water land cover categories are rarely transformed into crops (IPCC,2006), but in the Sao Paulo state this category is changing (low quantity) not only to sugarcane but also from sugarcane plantations. These urban areas might only be built in structures that could be easily moved away and used as crops lands. However, low accuracy from the input data may cause these uncommon land use change behaviors (even if they are occurring in low quantity).



Fig. 5 Land cover transformation to sugarcane in Sao Paulo State from 2007-2008



Fig. 6 Sugarcane transformation to other land cover category in Sao Paulo state from 2007-2008.

3.2 CO₂ emissions

CO₂ emissions from land use change were quantified on a yearly basis for two relevant carbon pools, biomass and soil (IPCC, 2006). The CO2 net fluxes (CO2 emissions from biomass and SOC from sugarcane production and expansion areas) for each year were taken into account and results are given in Fig 7. Regarding CO₂ emissions from the biomass parameter (Fig 7, A), for almost all the harvest years except 2013-2014, 2011-2012 and 2010-2011, the sugarcane land use and sugarcane expansion is functioning as a carbon sequestration pool (negative values). In 2013-2014, 2011-2012 and 2010-2011 harvest years the net CO_2 flux (total emissions) is positive which indicates that for these years the sugarcane land use and LUC is generating CO₂ emissions. Values vary between -9.47 million t of CO₂ (sequestration) in 2006-2007 (equivalent to sequestrating 1.8 t of CO₂/ha), to 20.5 million t of CO₂ in 2013-2014 (equivalent to emitting 4.22 t of CO₂/ha). On the contrary from the biomass parameter, the SOC (Fig 7, B) is emitting CO_2 for all the harvest years with the exception of 2014-2015 as result from LUC. Nevertheless, it has a similar trend as the one described in the sugarcane expansion (land dynamics). The SOC CO₂ emissions, compared to biomass CO₂ emissions, have low magnitudes. For the total studied time step (2004-2015), the sugarcane land use in Sao Paulo is emitting more CO_2 (16.3 million t) than sequestrating (taking into account carbon net flux in SOC and biomass pools from 2004-2015).

Sugarcane expansion in urban, water and annual cropland land cover categories results in CO₂ sequestration for the biomass pool (0 presence of biomass in those categories). However, the expansion on water and urban land cover categories is unlikely (IPCC 2006). The biggest emissions from the biomass section are produced when forest land cover category is transformed into sugarcane due to the large biomass difference between categories¹⁴. Sugarcane maintaining areas can either act as CO₂ sequestration or emission areas (for the biomass section), normally those values are relatively small when compared to the values from LUC. The dynamics between sugarcane expansion with low and medium vegetation are more complex (given that spatial variation in biomass yield) and can result in CO₂ sequestration or emission areas (for the biomass pool). Nevertheless, sugarcane biomass values are generally higher than low vegetation ones (given the yield difference between sugarcane and low vegetation categories in sugarcane areas expansion) and lower than medium vegetation ones. Different from the biomass CO₂ emission dynamics, the SOC is generating CO₂ emissions when sugarcane is expanded into any other land cover category. The expansion in forest category accounts for the highest CO₂ emissions from the SOC pool given the loss of top soil followed by eucalyptus and medium vegetation category. Additionally, sugarcane maintaining areas have no carbon change (IPCC, 2006).

A Spearman's rho correlation test (given sample size and that variables don't obey normality) was applied between variables to identify if there was any correlation between parameters (other variables such as sugarcane expansion) and the CO_2 emissions trend. There is a negative correlation of -0.75 (*p*=0.007) between the yield difference from each consecutive harvest year and the CO_2 emissions from biomass. If the yield difference from the last consecutive is positive the sugarcane land use behaves as a carbon sink, if not (negative

¹⁴ This section would be discussed deeply in the overall discussion

value), the sugarcane land use emits CO_2^{15} .In regard to CO_2 emissions from SOC, there is a positive correlation of 0.98 (*p*=0.000) between sugarcane expansion into other land cover categories and the CO₂ emissions from SOC. When the sugarcane expansion tends to increase so does the CO₂ emissions from SOC and when the expansion decreases, the CO₂ emissions from SOC do as well.

CO₂ emission trend from the biomass parameter is explained by the yield difference between consecutive years. The 3 harvest years with CO₂ emission values for the biomass section (positives values), are result of sugarcane productivity drop that can be influenced by several elements such as climatic events. Additionally, almost all the LUC is taking place in low vegetation and annual cropland land cover categories (sugarcane biomass values are a small fraction higher from low vegetation and a big one from annual cropland), which contribute to the carbon sink trend for the other harvest years. The high area magnitude difference between sugarcane current use and expansion is responsible for the negative correlation between yield difference from consecutive years and CO₂ emissions from the biomass parameter (given that yield values affect all the sugarcane maintaining area). Regarding SOC, CO₂ emissions are dependent on sugarcane expansion. This correlation explains the difference between harvest year SOC CO₂ emissions that coincide with the sugarcane expansion dynamics (2012-2013) emission value is drastically low given the low amount of sugarcane expansion). However, the last harvest year from SOC CO₂ emissions follows a different trend (carbon sink behavior). This carbon sink behavior is caused by the change in the input stock change factor for this year. Sugarcane SOC values are lower when sugarcane residues are burnt (compared to green harvest practice), the practice change resulted in carbon storage for all the sugarcane maintaining areas. Other studies performed in Sao Paulo state have reported similar results on how carbon accumulates in soils when the pre-burn practice is shifted to green harvest practice (Cerri et al., 2004) (Czycza, 2009).





Fig. 7 total CO₂ emissions from sugarcane land use and expansion in Sao Paulo state

Given the spatial distribution and the resolution implemented, it is complicated to determine trends. Fig. 8 displays the spatial distribution for CO₂ emissions or sequestration values for the 2006-2007 harvest year for the biomass section. The trend is similar for all the harvest years with the exception of 2011-2012, 2010-2011 and 2013-2014 (annexes B). The North part of the state is the area that is contributing more to CO₂ sequestration from land use change (Annual cropland shifting to sugarcane). The North-West area is also acting as a sink but with less intensity (low vegetation shifting to sugarcane). Given that the value of sugarcane maintaining area is much greater than expansion (positive yield difference between consecutive years), almost all the state is acting as sink (it must be highlighted that these sequestration values are low compared to the ones in other land cover categories). Some areas in the central and central east section of the state are the ones contributing to CO₂ emissions (mainly from middle vegetation changing). There are some uncommon cases when high emission values are caused by drastically low suitable sugarcane areas expanding on regular or high suitable low vegetation areas. Year 2005-2006 also has a different spatial distribution (see annexes B), even if the whole state for this year is acting as a sink, a large part of the sugarcane maintaining area is releasing CO₂ because of the yield difference between 2006 and 2007 (extremely low quantities).



Fig. 8 Spatial distribution of CO₂ emissions or sequestration from biomass 2006-2007

Fig. 9 shows the sensisitity analysys for the CO_2 emissions from the biomass section. For the parameters considered, the maximum variation of CO₂ emissions comes from the yield change. It takes a small % change to shift the emission values in large quantity. Meanwhile, the relevant land cover categories had to increase or decrease in large % to generate a considerable variation in CO_2 emissions or sequestration. Low vegetation had a bigger variation than the medium vegetation category even if the same % change was used for both categories. The results are dependable on yield difference from consecutive years, given the decision to assess current sugarcane land use (as mentioned before the area magnitude from sugarcane maintaining area is considerable larger than the expansion one). The yield gap between consecutive years is the principal driving force behind the increase or decrease in CO₂ emissions for the biomass parameter from sugarcane land use and expansion in Sao Paulo state for the studied time. If the sugarcane yields from consecutive years are highly similar, the CO₂ emissions or sequestration would depend strictly on sugarcane expansion. The second driving force behind the increase or decrease in CO₂ emissions is the LUC in low vegetation areas. On account of the implemented methods, sugarcane biomass values are normally higher than low vegetation ones. The behavior from the 2005-2006 harvest years is an example of how the second driver interacts with the results when the first one is less significant (The toal emissions from this year are ruled by the expansion on low vegetation category).



Fig. 9 Sensitivity analysis from Biomass CO2 emissions from Sao Paulo state Brazil, 2011-2012

The SOC CO₂ emission trends (Fig. 10) are spatially more clear than the ones from biomass. Different from biomass, the shift to sugarcane from low vegetation is causing CO₂ emissions by removing soil carbon. Almost all the green area is where sugarcane is not changing in realtionship with the last consecutive year (value of 0). There are several areas in the North and North-West area of the state where the sugar expansion is producing CO₂ emission from the SOC (especially by expanding on low vegetation categories). The trend is similar for all the studied time with an exception from the last harvest year and harvest season 2012-2013 (Extremly low sugarcane expansion). As new plantations of sugarcane can be found in the south part, this expansion is generating emession from the SOC for the last harvest years. Additionally, for the last harvest the pre-burn practice change from the last conecutive year is causing for the whole state to acts as a sink. The different maps can be seen in the annexes C. As mentioned before, the sugarcane expansion in other categories for the SOC parameter (urban and water exception) produces CO₂ emission . The higher values (red in the map) are when forest, eucalyptus or medium vegetation category is transformed.



Fig. 10 Spatial CO₂ emissions from SOC 2006-2007

As figure 11 illustrates, the maximum variation for the CO₂ emissions from SOC parameter comes from the change in stock change factors from the sugarcane land cover category. Furthermore, the major change is created when the Flu factor varies. The CO₂ emission value varies dramatically with the % change of this parameter. Different from the other land cover categories, when the stock change factors from the sugarcane land cover category increases the CO₂ emissions tend to reduce and vice versa. Low vegetation stock change factors are also generating a considerable change in the results when the stock change factors are shifted. Medium vegetation and annual cropland category are not disturbing the results in a substantial manner because the biggest interaction comes from sugarcane expanding on low vegetation areas. Even if the analysis suggests the Flu factor is the most important parameter influencing the CO₂ emission from the SOC section, it must be taken into account that this parameter stays constant for the entire studied time step. In reference to that, the results from SOC section would be affected more from the LUC dynamics (especially from the expansion in low vegetation category) from Sao Paulo state as long as the factors remain constant. However, for the studied time step the results suggest that improving sugarcane production (improving score on stock change factors) practices in a future scenario would be more efficient to reduce CO₂ emissions from the SOC than reducing LUC (if the expansion continues on low vegetation category).



Fig. 11 Sensitivity analysis from SOC CO₂ emissions from Sao Paulo state Brazil, 2004-2005

3.3 Biodiversity

3.3.1 Protected areas¹⁶

The sugarcane land cover category percentage is less than 1% for all years inside Sao Paulo state protected areas (Fig. 12 (B)). Sugarcane land cover category trend inside the PA's is to increase slightly in area coverage in the first years and then decrease. Some PA's were established within the studied time step. The inclusion of new PA's did not affect the sugarcane land cover trend. In comparison to forest land cover category, the sugarcane coverage in PA's is almost insignificant. The sum of urban, sugarcane and annual cropland land cover categories is close to 1% for the entire time step.

Forest land cover category corresponds to more than 89% of the total PA's area for the entire time step (2004-2015) (Fig. 12). Additionally, it is characterized for increasing the forest area steadily each year with almost 2% difference from the first to the last year (Fig. 12). Ribeiro et al., (2009), reported the effectiveness of PA's in conserving native forest in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Nolte et al., (2013), described similar results on how strictly PA's in the Brazilian amazon were limiting deforestation within their limits and enhancing forest conservation. Nevertheless, similar studies performed in other parts of the world (with similar ecosystems and sugarcane culture as Brazil) such as Indonesia, have suggested that PA's have failed in reducing deforestation (Gaveau et al., 2007). As land cover changes have major consequences in biodiversity (Tallmon et al., 2003), protecting and enhancing forest area

¹⁶ The results were analyzed only for sugarcane and forest land cover category

enlargement will benefit biodiversity. Referring strictly to sugarcane expansion, the results suggest that it is not enhancing direct land use change with in the PA's for the forest category and consequently avoiding impacts on biodiversity from LUC.



Fig. 12percentage of forest and sugarcane inside PA's¹⁷

3.3.2 Land cover change dynamics (forest category)

As mentioned before in section 3.1, sugarcane expansion in forest areas is drastically low when compared to other land cover categories. Several studies agree that less than 1% of the expansion is occurring on the forest land cover category (Nassar et al., 2008) (Adami et al., 2012). It can be seen in Fig 13 forest category dynamics that the magnitude of deforestation (Fig. 13 (A)) is considerably low from sugarcane expansion when compared to regeneration values (sugarcane area transformed to forest, Fig. 13(B)). With the exception of the first harvest year, the net balance (Fig. 13 (C) is positive for the rest of the years, showing that more forest is growing from sugarcane plantation than forest cleared due to sugarcane expansion. Land use changes from sugarcane to forest category may suggest low accuracy in this areas given the short time spam that it is taking for forest to grow in sugarcane areas. Nevertheless, sugarcane plantations in the state must guarantee at least 20% of forestry cover in the harvested land (either conserving or reforesting with native species) (Goldember et al., 2008). Reforestation measures might be taking place in those areas but it is less likely taking into account the one year time spam. Net balance (Fig 13, C) and regeneration areas (Fig 13, B) follow the same trend, suggesting that deforestation is not affecting the net balance (giving

¹⁷ Other land cover percentages are in the annexes.

the low magnitude when compared to regeneration). Additionally, deforestation from sugarcane is low to the point that it is not disturbing the whole state forest area (Fug 13, D tendency to increase in time.



Fig. 13 Forest category dynamics from Sao Paulo state

Sugarcane expansion on forest category was also analysed spatially. Fig 14 is an example of sugarcane expansion causing deforestation for the 2007-2008 harvest season. 2 patches can be seen, one in the upper part already in a mixed area from different categories, and one in the lower area just in the agricultural frontier from a nature area (forest,eucalyptus and medium vegetation). Even if the deforestation magnitude is low, the areas where it is taking place are experiencing habitat fragmentation resulting in habitat loss (Fahrig, 2003). Not only may this fragmentation lead to habitat loss, it could change the properties of the remaining habitat (van den Berg et al., 2001) and consequently have impacts on biodiversity. Additionally, the expansion in specific areas of Sao Paulo state (as the one where patch number two is located) is triggering habitat reduction which could have negative impacts on different biodiversity levels (Jantz et al., 2015). Furthermore, the random process of deforestation and regeneration (e.g. losing forest in a nature area and regenerating it in an area isolated by other land cover categories) could produce specific impacts on biodiversity for those areas.



Fig. 14 Deforestation from sugarcane expansion in Sao Paulo state 2007-2008

As mentioned before, the lands scape indicators were measured for the forest land cover category. Fig. 15 displays the same trend for the 3 indicators (since all three indicators depend from the number of patches). It has to be highlighted that consecutive patches (two or more neighboring pixels from forest shifting at the same time) were not found for the whole studied time and for that reason each patch size corresponds to the same pixel size. Additionally, the number of patches evaluated each harvest year corresponds to new areas where sugarcane expanded. The drop in 2009 for the 3 indicators is due to the lack of deforestation (0) from sugarcane expansion. An increase in the trend represents more deforestation from sugarcane and a decrease represents the opposite.

The 2006-2007 harvest season was the one with the highest number of patches (15) generated in the forest land cover category (Fig. 15(A)). 15 patches are equivalent to 0.029% of the entire forest area (Fig. 15 (B)). This means that the sugarcane expansion (for the 2006-2007 season; the one with the largest expansion in forest from sugarcane) is responsible for deforesting 0.029% of the total forest area in the state. In total, sugarcane expansion is responsible for reducing 0.2% (added values form Fig. 15 (B)) of the total forest area in the state for the complete studied time. The landscape indicators are affected by the forest size. As mentioned above, the forest land cover area trend is to increase as time passes. Even if deforestation from sugarcane expansion increases (not the case for the study), the value is lower given that forest land cover category is expanding. In relation with the number of patches generated (Fig. 15 (C)), on average 0.00015^{18} patches are generated yearly from sugarcane expansion for each 100 ha of forest. Sugarcane expansion is deforesting on a

¹⁸ Average from the value in Fig. 13 (C)

yearly basis (average) 0.015ha¹⁹ for every 100 ha of forest. The low deforestation showed by the landscape indicators agrees with other studies (Nassar et al., 2008) (Adami et al., 2012). This suggests that sugarcane expansion is having low impacts on biodiversity in the forest category for the whole state.



Fig. 15 landscape indicators for Sao Paulo state

3.3.3 Mean species abundance

For the MSA the only driver that was taken into account was LUC (for this reason the MSA is totally dependable LUC dynamics). Fig 16 MSA represents spatially the biodiversity impacts for the 2006-2007 harvest year from sugar expansion (given that when land remains in the current land cover there is no change). Taking into account the MSA classification change (discussed in methods section), the positive impacts in species abundance occur when sugarcane expands on cropland or urban areas. The negative impact in biodiversity occur when sugarcane expands in low vegetation areas, the negative impact – when sugarcane expands in forest land cover category. However, negative impacts in species abundance may be a consequence of ecosystem disturbance (Alkemade et al., 2009)

The trend is similar for all the harvest years. The largest change is taking place on the North and North-west area of the state with a negative impact in biodiversity. Additionally, in the center part of the state is also a negative impact. The MSA value indicates a decrease in biodiversity in these areas when low vegetation land is transformed into sugarcane. Nevertheless, there are also positive impacts on biodiversity. In the Northern part of the state the MSA value change is showing an increase in biodiversity given the sugarcane expansion into cropland areas. Given that MSA is strictly dependable on LUC dynamics, most of the generated impacts are a decrease in biodiversity given the yearly change from low vegetation

¹⁹ Patch size 1 km² converted to ha

to sugarcane. Negative - - changes are the ones that generate more impact in biodiversity, but for Sao Paulo state it is low (given that sugarcane expands rarely on forest areas). The spatial dynamics are similar for the entire studied time step with the exception from the last years. In these years there is also a decrease in biodiversity in the south part of the state (mainly from the change from low vegetation to sugarcane).

Fig 17 is an example of how the MSA is totally dependable on the LUC dynamics. Harvest year 2012-2013 was the one with the lowest sugarcane expansion (Fig. 2, A). For this reason there is low impact on MSA for this year. It must be taken into account that the no change results is where sugarcane is remaining sugarcane, but this value is already a low MSA value when compared to other land cover categories. Given that the reference year was 2004 the results might be less drastic than they appear. However, the land was transformed before the reference year and areas have been submitted to sugarcane land use change for several decades (Martinelli and Filoso, 2008). The species abundance of these areas might have been affected more drastically in the past than in the studied time step (given the assumption that the land was in equilibrium for 2004). In an overall perspective, the impacts on biodiversity from sugarcane production and expansion are negative but relative low. The PA's are not being affected by the sugarcane industry neither as the forest category in the state (suggesting low biodiversity impacts in these indicators). However, there still is a negative impact from biodiversity from the sugarcane expansion (Northwest section). Nevertheless, the impact on biodiversity could have been worst if sugarcane expanded more in other land cover categories different from low vegetation.



Fig. 16 MSA value change from sugarcane land use for 2006-2007 harvest year



Fig. 17 MSA value change from sugarcane land use for 2012-2013 harvest year

For the MSA indicator, the land cover that is influencing more the results is the sugarcane one (Fig 18.). A small change in the MSA score from the sugarcane category generates a larger shift compared to the other land cover categories. Nevertheless, the magnitude change is low and always with a negative impact on biodiversity. Low vegetation is also important and when the MSA score for low vegetation decreases, the overall MSA score from the sugarcane expansion tends to increase (reduces negative biodiversity impact) and vice versa. The other 2 land cover categories suggest that are not relevant for the results. This is explained because the LUC generates in Sao Paulo state from the studied time step is mainly occurring in the low vegetation category. However, these MSA score for each land cover category are constant for the entire studied time step. Conservancy strategies within the sugarcane land cover category that increase the sugarcane MSA score could reflect higher scores (less negative impacts) when sugarcane induces LUC. The MSA is a good indicator for determining an approximation of the effect from LUC induced from sugarcane expansion. Nevertheless, more empirical methods should be applied in order to have better estimations of the real impacts on biodiversity from the sugarcane expansion in Sao Paulo state.



Fig. 18 Sensitivity analysis from the MSA score for Sao Paulo state Brazil, 2007-2006

3.4 Water shortage

The results for water shortage were evaluated in 3 different time steps for each harvest year. It must be highlighted that the spatial distribution of water shortage is the same for all the harvest years (annex E)²⁰. When sugarcane is growing (initial step April month, Fig 19) evapotranspiration does not exceed effective precipitation, therefore there is not a water deficiency over this period of time for the whole state. All values are negative; consequently there is a water surplus for the whole state for the initial growing stage of sugarcane. Nevertheless, the areas with the lowest values are located in the Northwest part of the state where the surplus varies from -20 - 0 mm per month. Most of the sugarcane is located in areas where the water surplus exceeds -40 mm per month. It must be highlighted that WS results are not only dependable from sugarcane LUC or sugarcane land use, WS are also dependent on climatic conditions and crop characteristics.

On the contrary, when sugarcane reaches mid stage (months from May to December, Fig 20) the plant demands more water and evapotranspiration is exceeding effective precipitation. This relation results in a water shortage for the whole state especially in the North and Northwest part of the country were the largest deficit values are taking place (80-120 mm per month). The large deficit in the Northwest area is mainly given by the lower precipitation values from this area in comparison to other parts of the state. The mid growing stage coincides with the beginning of the dry season (May to October) where precipitation values

²⁰ This procedure would be explained better in the water shortage discussion section

drop drastically when compared to other months. As mentioned before in the LUC section, most of the sugarcane expansion is taking place in the Northwest part of the state where the water deficit is the highest from May to December. Adequate moisture is needed to obtain maximum yield (Allen et al., 1998). The temporary water shortage from the mid growing stage could result in damages to agricultural production and affect considerable the possibilities of obtaining maximum yield. The water shortage for the mid sugarcane growing stage differs from other studies (Cabral et al., 2012; da Silva et al., 2013), underlining that rain water is not enough for sugarcane production in these months. The water absence from these months could affect water availability downstream (from sugarcane production areas) especially in the Northwest section of the state given that the water requirements from sugarcane is not allowing surplus water to reach water bodies.



Fig. 19 Water shortage for sugarcane initial growing stage in Sao Paulo state 2012-2013



Fig. 20 Water shortage for sugarcane mid growing stage in Sao Paulo state 2012-2013



Fig. 21 Water shortage for sugarcane late growing stage in Sao Paulo state 2012

Just as in the initial growing stage, in the late growing stage (January – March) (Fig. 21) evapotranspiration is not exceeding effective precipitation. In consequence, there is not a water deficit for this period of time for the whole state. The largest surplus is occurring on the Northeast area where values go as high as -80 mm per month. The sugarcane expansion that is taking place in the south part of the state in the last harvest years, seems to go more in hand with the water shortage parameter (given that these areas are characterized for more precipitation). If the water shortage is evaluated on a yearly basis, there would be no water shortage because dry months are compensated with wet months and all the water is

eventually replenished. The exception would be for just a few areas in the Northwest part of the state.

The sensitivity analysis for the water sections (Fig. 22) shows that the Kc values from all the growing stages are following a linear relationship. However, the most important shift comes from the medium stage (given that is the only generating water shortage). Furthermore, changing the Kc value from the medium stage to lower limit is still generating water shortage. Even low sugarcane yield values from the medium sugarcane growing stage will still generate water shortage. When sugarcane reached the medium growing stage the effective precipitation in the stage is not enough for the adequate development of the crop.



Fig. 22 Sensitivity analysis from the water shortage for Sao Paulo state Brazil, 2014-2015

3.5 Soil erosion

Soil erosion values were quantified for each harvest year and the correspondent maps are present in the annexes F. As show in Fig. 23, Sao Paulo state is losing more than 1 million t of soil in sugarcane plantations areas (taking into account all the land cover under sugarcane use). The soil loss is relatively constant for the whole studied time, with values ranging from 1 million t of soil loss per year to 1.5 million t of soil loss per year. The soil loss dynamics show an increase of soil loss, reaching a peak and then decreasing trend (Fig 23), this trend is repeated two times in the studied time step (2004-2015). 2009 and 2007 correspond to the years with highest soil loss (close to 1.5 million t of soil loss per year); meanwhile 2014 correspond to the one with the lowest soil loss (1 million t of soil loss per year). Nachtergaele et al., (2011) predicted yearly global soil loss values (by the means of RUSLE equation), mean values in Sao Paulo state range approximately from 0 to 5 t of soil loss per hectare per year (regarding land cover). Sugarcane soil loss mean values from the studied time step range

from 0.35 to 0.5 t of soil loss per hectare each year. It must be highlighted that the comparison was done visually given the lack of data.

From a spatial perspective (Fig. 24), values vary from 0 t of soil loss per hectare to 130 (this value was the highest one registered and corresponds to the 2006-2005 harvest year). Yearly values above 40 t of soil loss per hectare are rare. Nevertheless, other studies have registered yearly values of 30 t of soil loss per hectare in sugarcane plantations in Sao Paulo state (Sparovek and Schnug, 2001). Furthermore, Bacchi et al., (2000) also registered values of 39 t of yearly soil loss per hectare in sugarcane plantations in Sao Paulo state. However, mean values differ drastically from other studies (but it must be taken into account the size of the study area given that values for other studies are calculated on watershed level and not state level) (Bacchi et al., 2000; Sparovek and Schnug, 2001). For all the harvest years the trend is similar with a big area (in the Northwest) of the sugarcane plantations losing between 0-4.5 t of soil per hectare each year, and a large area (in the central region) losing from 0-1 t of soil per hectare each year. Kertzman et al., (1995) calculated an erosion risk map for Sao Paulo state with the highest erosion risk areas located in the Northwest and some areas in the Middle East section from the state. In the Northwest area where sugarcane is expanding the most, is common to find soil erosion values above 4 or 12.5 t of soil loss per year. Furthermore in Middle East section of the state, several areas present erosion values from 4.5-12.5 t of soil loss per year and also values above 12.5 t of soil loss per year (Less common than in the Northwest section of the state).

There are several sugarcane plantations that are not losing soil in any harvest year. Especially the ones located close to the water bodies. In comparison to other land cover categories, sugarcane is generating more soil loss especially when compared to forest and medium vegetation. Nevertheless, there are Medium vegetation areas with soil loss (in the south section of the state) values up to 16 t of soil loss per hectare per year. However, as mentioned before sugarcane is expanding less in the medium vegetation category and rarely in forest areas. When sugarcane expands in the lower vegetation category the soil loss stays relatively low when compared to soil loss from the sugarcane expansion in other land cover categories other land cover categories.



Fig. 23 yearly soil loss from sugarcane plantations in Sao Paulo state



Fig. 24 spatial soil loss from sugarcane plantations in Sao Paulo state in 2012

3.5 Results integration

Fig. 25 represents the integrated results for each harvest year. As mentioned before the scale ranges from -4 to 4. Nevertheless, sugarcane plantations never exceeded a score of 1 (positive EI). Taking into account that sugarcane areas vary between each harvest year, the scores were normalized with their correspondent sugarcane area. As mentioned before in the water

section, water shortage is only occurring in the mid stage of the crop (longest stage of the crop). For the results integration, the mid stage results from water shortage were the ones considered.

The scores are similar for all the harvest years (annexes G) with the exception of 2005-2006, 2010-2011, 2011-2012 and 2013-2014. For the rest of the harvest years, the largest % correspond to -1 (more than 55% each year) followed by 0 (approximately 35%). The large % of 0 score illustrates that there are several tradeoffs between positive and negative impacts that tend to balance each other. The % of 1 score never surpasses 1.5% and stays low for all harvest years. Values with a higher negative score than -1, also tend to be low. Scores of -3 and -4 are very rare and never account for more than 1 % of the area (with the exception of 2012, value of 1.2% for -4).

The rest of the years that follow a different trend (2005-2006, 2010-2011, 2011-2012 and 2013-2014) coincide with the harvest years where large areas of sugarcane are releasing CO2 emissions (instead of capturing). These years have dramatically higher % in negative scores than the other ones. Scores of -3 accounts for the largest % (approximately 55%) followed by scores of -2 (approximately 40%). Scores of -1 and 0 are relative rare for these harvest years. The lack of 0 score for these years exemplifies how there are fewer trade of between positive and negative impacts. It must be highlighted the lack of scores above 1 (positive impacts) through all the harvest years, shows how is extremely rare for sugarcane current use or expansion areas to generate more than 1 positive impacts that is not compensated by a negative one.





Even if spatial trends are difficult to assess, the trend is similar for the entire studied time step even with the score distinction between 2005-2006, 2010-2011, 2011-2012, 2013-2014 and the other harvest years. The lowest score areas are registered in the Northwest area of the state when the scores are compared within each harvest year. In the middle section of the state, where sugarcane maintaining areas are large, the results indicate more scores of -1 and 0. However in the years with the different score trend, these areas have values of -2 and -3. Spatially, there are few areas under sugarcane that have positive impacts. Fig 26 and 27 display the difference in score trend between harvest years. 2011-2012 harvest year is the one with the lowest sugarcane expansion value, however is registering a trend of large areas with -2 and -3 scores. On the contrary, 2006-2007 harvest year is the one with the highest sugarcane expansion, nevertheless this harvest year is registering large areas with score of 0 and -1.



Fig. 26 El's integration results for 2006-2007 harvest year



Fig. 27 El's integration results for 2011-2012 harvest year

4. Discussion

The results should be interpreted with care, especially the ones from the integration section. Even if the results suggest that the Northwest area is the more unsustainable given sugarcane expansion and land use, the integration method assessment did not account for the environmental impact magnitude. A relatively high magnitude positive impact could be compensated by a relatively low magnitude one and vice versa. Soil loss scores are always translated into negative or no change scores, this led to the impossibility of obtaining areas with a perfect score for positive impacts. CO₂ emissions never had a value of no change (given the methodology applied for this section) and the results were always either positive or negative. Meanwhile, water shortage results (given the assumption of using the mid stage results) showed negative impacts the majority of the time, only with a few rare areas with a value of 0. In regards to Biodiversity, the MSA value only changes when sugarcane expands, sugarcane maintaining areas area given a value of 0. Given that sugarcane maintaining areas are drastically larger than expansion areas, vast sugarcane areas had a value of no change in this parameter for the integration part. A higher degree of knowledge is required to understand the relationships between environmental impacts that could be vital for the integration section. Also, more knowledge is needed to translate several indicator scores into real EI's in the best possible manner.

The calculations were based on several input data and as mentioned before, the most important input data for this study was the land cover one. The overall accuracy from the land cover data ranged from 70% to 90% in standard conditions (TUD, 2016). Other studies performed in Brazil with land cover classification have reported accuracies ranging from 63 to 78% (Sano et al., 2010; Beuchle et al., 2015). However, discriminating sugarcane from other crops and grasses was one of the major challenges (TUD, 2016). The discrimination challenges could explain the large tradeoff that is occurring in the whole studied time step (2004-2015) between the low vegetation and sugarcane land cover categories. Even if sugarcane expansion is unlikely to take place in urban and water land cover categories (IPCC, 2006), the data shows that in Sao Paulo state it is occurring (low magnitude). Land cover data from 2013 and 2012 were extrapolated from 2014 and 2011 (lack of satellite coverage) (TUD, 2016). The data extrapolation could be one of the causes for the extremely low sugarcane expansion values for the 2012-2013 harvest year and the disagreement (especially for these years) with other studies. Additionally, the resample from the land cover data (30 m resolution to 1000 m) might have resulted in the loss of land cover classification specificity for some areas.

A wide range of parameters were used to calculate each EI. With regard to CO_2 from the biomass parameter, sugarcane suitability maps were used to establish the spatial difference between sugarcane biomass. For Sao Paulo, suitability values vary approximately from 0.8 to 80%. The approach used for this section resulted in low realistic biomass values for few areas (small amount) as a result of the considerable low suitability values. The same issue was found for the low and medium vegetation categories, given that alfalfa suitability maps were used. Current sugarcane land use was also evaluated and not only expansion, and as mentioned before current land use area is significantly larger than expansion area, the total

 CO_2 emissions from biomass in the state are more correlated to the yield change of each consecutive harvest year than to any other variable. Furthermore, the cross multiplication method seemed to be adequate to establish the biomass spatial difference for almost all the harvest years. Nevertheless, the difference between products from the cross multiplication between yield and mean suitability for 2005 and 2006 harvest years (slightly higher result in 2005 than 2006) resulted in large areas of CO2 emission with extremely low values (opposite from what is expected given that 2006 values is slightly larger than 2005).

Regarding the biodiversity section the MSA was the only indicator used for the integration step. Even if the MSA indicator is quantifying the impact on biodiversity from the expansion of sugarcane in Sao Paulo state, the results should be used as a proxy indicator of the possible effect from the sugarcane expansion. The indicator lacks of specific data for the Brazilian scenario. Furthermore, the MSA is not taking into account possible cascade effects (Fragmentation, connectivity loss and possible delays on biodiversity recovery (Lambin et al., 2001)) that can result from LUC. Additionally a negative impact generated from the sugarcane expansion can be compensated by the change of sugarcane to other land cover category leaving aside important and unique local biodiversity characteristics. Furthermore, the MSA assumes the same score for the entire land cover category and this assumption leaves aside the possibility of encountering more biodiverse areas (or higher MSA scores) within the same land cover category. Additionally the score is not changing on time assuming a constant temporal variable. Given the selected method, the LUC is the main driver behind the results from the MSA indicator for the studied time step. Nonetheless, a sensitivity analysis was done in order to establish how each land cover category was affecting the overall score.

The water stress section was evaluated on spatial basis taking into account different climatological parameters such as precipitation, temperature, humidity, evapotranspiration, etc. However the water shortage indicator is not including important relationships between parameters from the hydrological cycle such as ground water. The parameter provides little information to address if the sugarcane production might be generating droughts or water quantity related problems. Nevertheless, the parameter is giving a good approximation of the areas less suitable for sugarcane water requirements in Sao Paulo state (only rain fed). The results suggest that there is a water shortage for the crop when sugarcane reaches the medium growing stage (especially in the Northwest) given that evapotranspiration is higher than the effective precipitation. Nonetheless, the temporal division assumed from this study for the mid growing stage coincides with the dry season. The precipitation monthly average for the mid stage (May to December) is including all the dry months resulting in low effective precipitation average for the medium stage. Additionally, the Kc value has an abrupt shift from the growing stage to medium stage instead of increasing periodically as the crop grows. The Kc value abrupt shift results in suddenly larger values from sugarcane evapotranspiration. The abrupt Kc value change and monthly precipitation average from the mid growing stage could be responsible for the water shortage generated in this period. For further studies the sensitivity analysis should be performed by changing the consecutive months of each growing section.

Given the lack of sugarcane growing stage spatial data, it was assumed the same sugarcane growing process for the whole state. However, in reality there is spatial difference between sugarcane growing stages within the same land cover. Additionally, the implementation of long term monthly averages from climatological parameters resulted in an effective precipitation and reference evapotranspiration base maps (not changing each harvest year). Even if precipitation data was available on monthly basis for the studied time step, the long term averages implementation was done given the lack of data from other climatologic parameters such as humidity and temperature. More powerful hydrological models that include interactions between parameters from the hydrological cycle with specific climatological information for the required time step should be implemented for a better assessment. Furthermore the spatial variation from sugarcane growing stage should be included in order to establish the real effect on the water quantity from the sugarcane land use and expansion.

Regarding soil erosion, the results suggest that sugarcane maintaining areas have low values of soil erosion. However authors have highlighted the soil erosion problems from sugarcane plantations when the sugarcane is under renovation and soils are exposed (Politano and Pissarra, 2005). The sugarcane land cover definition for this study includes areas under renovation and there is not a spatial distinction between them in the sugarcane category. C values differ drastically when a soil is exposed or not (exposed C values result in higher erosion rates) (Biesemans et al. 2000). C values were assigned for sugarcane land cover category with the assumption that all areas are covered with sugarcane (no distinction inside the same category). This assumption might have affected the results and explain the low erosion values from the sugarcane maintaining areas. The results also suggest that when sugarcane expands, the soil erosion increases especially in the Northwest section of the state (even if for this section spatial patterns are difficult to assess). Several sugarcane maintaining areas have a value of 0 for soil erosion, especially the ones close to water bodies. As RUSLE is not intended for water bodies, there might have been overlapping discrepancy between the land cover maps and the K value map (k values map is based on soil type map) explaining the soil erosion values from these areas.

Soil erosion values have to be interpreted with deep care. C and P values are assigned based on literature review and as mentioned before are kept constant for the entire studied time step. Furthermore the values are assumed to be constant within each land cover category. C and P values are time dependable and in order to have a better assessment these values should be calculated for each year with the relevant methodology. With regards to the LS factor, the value was calculated with high resolution (30 m cell size) and then resample to a lower one. The resolution re sample might have resulted in several areas with values of 0 for the LS parameter. If any given driver from the RUSLE equation has a value of 0, the soils erosion immediately becomes 0. Some authors suggest that the R value is the parameter most correlated to soil erosion (Kouli et al., 2009). For this study, the R value is also the one most correlated to the study given that is the only changing on year basis. Furthermore it must be highlighted that the soil parameter only took into account erosion from water. In order to obtain more adequate results, additional empirical measurements should be applied and calculation of wind erosion as well.

The method was adequate to establish a scale of impacts either positive or negative from the sugarcane production and expansion in Sao Paulo state. However, the EI's from other land cover categories in Sao Paulo state were not evaluated. For further studies, the EI from other land cover categories such as expansion of cropland and urban areas should be assessed in order to compare with sugarcane EI's and obtain more arguments to understand better the spatial sustainability of the sugarcane industry. The results were affected also by the decision of assessing not only sugarcane expansion but also sugarcane remaining areas. The sugarcane remaining area evaluation had a direct impact in the results for some indicators such as CO₂ emissions resulting in low spatial difference and difficulty to notice spatial trends between the same land cover category in the state. Furthermore, the sugarcane remaining area assessment is responsible for determining the whole trend from the state in several EI's such as CO₂ emissions were the sink or emission behavior is determined by it. The EI's temporal assessment was done on yearly basis and each impact was quantified in reference to the previous year. However if the quantification had been done with other reference year different from the previous one, the results for some indicators could have been more abrupt (e.g. showing more dramatic land use changes and more CO₂ emissions).

The applied resolution and scale was a limitation for establishing spatial trends for all the EI's in the state. Further studies should be applied on a lower scale (municipality scale) basis to identify possible trend and unsustainable areas that this study might have neglected. However the input data resolution would always be a limitation.

5. Conclusion

Taking into account the limitation of the study approach, applied methods and input data, it can be concluded that there is a constant tradeoff between sugarcane expanding in low vegetation areas and low vegetation areas expanding in sugarcane plantations. Furthermore, the sugarcane expansion is occurring mainly by the displacement of low vegetation areas in the Northwest section of the state for the entire studied time step (2004-2015). Additionally, the Northwest section is the one undergoing the most negative impacts given the magnitude of the sugarcane expansion in this area (especially in biodiversity, soil erosion and water shortage). The study illustrated the high spatial variability of environmental impacts between sugarcane expansion areas and sugarcane maintaining areas; therefore it highlights the importance of assessing spatially the environmental impacts from the sugarcane industry.

Regarding CO_2 emissions from biomass, it was revealed that emissions from the sugarcane maintaining area driven by yield values are more relevant for the whole CO_2 emissions (or sequestration behavior) produced in the state from the sugarcane industry than actual emissions generated from LUC. However, as long as sugarcane keeps expanding on low vegetation areas it will result in a carbon sink behavior for those expansion areas. Enhancements on sugarcane productivity will result in remarkable improvements in CO_2 sequestration from the sugarcane industry. Nevertheless, yield values are also dependable on other variables such climatic factors. Sugarcane LUC is always generating CO_2 emissions in the SOC parameter. However, management improvements will result in substantial carbon accumulation in the soil.

As long as sugarcane keeps expanding, there will be a negative impact on biodiversity. However the approach was not adequate to evaluate the biodiversity impact from the sugarcane maintaining areas. Nevertheless, the real impacts on biodiversity are less than the potential impact given that sugarcane is expanding most of the time in low vegetation areas and is not generating deforestation. The MSA (with only the land use driving force) is a good proxy indicator however is not accounting for relevant interactions from the LUC that would result in more suitable and accurate measurements.

Sugarcane is expanding to the area with less effective precipitation (Northwest), resulting in a possible water shortage for that section. However, important parameters and relationships from the water cycle such as ground water were not taken into account. Regarding soil, sugarcane expansion into other land cover categories is generating more soil loss than sugarcane maintaining areas. However, important variables as sugarcane renovation time were not taken into account. The inclusion of this variable might have resulted in higher values of soil loss for the sugarcane maintaining areas.

On a general conclusion, the Northwest section of the state is the one undergoing the most negative EI's suggesting that this section is the less suitable for sugarcane production (compared with other sections form the state). Furthermore the sugarcane production (use and expansion) for the entire studied time step (2004-2015) is more inclined to an unsustainable score than to a sustainable one. However, the negative score is low if compared to the maximum potential negative score. The geographical variation between EI's is mostly

determined by previous land use with the exception of the water shortage indicator which is determined more by biophysical characteristics such as precipitation. The internal annual variation between impacts is relative low. However, each indicator inter annual variations are dependable on different factors, CO_2 emissions variations from biomass is more dependable on weather variation that may affect sugarcane yield, but CO_2 emissions variations from SOC are more determined by LUC magnitude. Regarding water shortage inter annual variations; they are determined more by the weather conditions and the location of the sugarcane expansion to the areas with less precipitation (expanding in the Northwest section of the state). Biodiversity inter annual variations are totally dependable on LUC magnitude, while soil erosion inter annual variations are dependable on LUC magnitude and less degree precipitation. However, on general basis the generated impacts from sugarcane are more determined by the previous land use of reference (before sugarcane expansion).

Finally, this study provides a basis to assess spatially the EI generated from the sugarcane production in Brazil and it contributes to identify not only possible areas more suitable for sugarcane expansion, but also key parameters that could be improved to enhance the sustainability of the sector. Furthermore, it offers a chronological picture from the sustainability from the sugarcane industry from 2004-2015 that can result in valuable information for the whole sugarcane industry not only in Sao Paulo state but also in Brazil. However, for further studies more specific and spatial data such as real yield spatial variation or field measurements in soil erosion and biodiversity impacts in Sao Paulo state should be used to obtain more adequate results. Furthermore, future studies should be assessed in a lower resolution (municipality or region) than a state level. The large area is an inconvenient for some EI's assessment and analysis.

6. References

- Abaza, H., Bisset, R., & Sadler, B. (2004). *Environmental impact assessment and strategic environmental assessment: towards an integrated approach*. UNEP/Earthprint.
- Abdullah, S. A., & Nakagoshi, N. (2007). Forest fragmentation and its correlation to human land use change in the state of Selangor, peninsular Malaysia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 241(1), 39-48.
- Adami, M., Rudorff, B. F. T., Freitas, R. M., Aguiar, D. A., Sugawara, L. M., & Mello, M. P. (2012). Remote sensing time series to evaluate direct land use change of recent expanded sugarcane crop in Brazil. *Sustainability*, 4(4), 574-585.
- Aguiar, D. A., Rudorff, B. F. T., Silva, W. F., Adami, M., & Mello, M. P. (2011). Remote sensing images in support of environmental protocol: Monitoring the sugarcane harvest in São Paulo State, Brazil. *Remote Sensing*, *3*(12), 2682-2703.
- Alkemade, R., van Oorschot, M., Miles, L., Nellemann, C., Bakkenes, M., & Ten Brink, B. (2009). GLOBIO3: a framework to investigate options for reducing global terrestrial biodiversity loss. *Ecosystems*, *12*(3), 374-390.
- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration-Guidelines for computing crop water requirements-FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. *FAO*, *Rome*, 300(9), D05109.
- Altieri, A. (2012). Bioethanol development in Brazil. Comprehensive renewable energy, 5.
- Arvizu, D., T. Bruckner, H. Chum, O. Edenhofer, S. Estefen, A. Faaij, M. Fischedick, G. Hansen, G. Hiriart, O. Hohmeyer, K. G. T. Hollands, J. Huckerby, S. Kadner, Å. Killingtveit, A. Kumar, A. Lewis, O. Lucon, P. Matschoss, L. Maurice, M. Mirza, C. Mitchell, W. Moomaw, J. Moreira, L. J. Nilsson, J. Nyboer, R. Pichs-Madruga, J. Sathaye, J. Sawin, R. Schaeffer, T. Schei, S. Schlömer, K. Seyboth, R. Sims, G. Sinden, Y. Sokona, C. von Stechow, J. Steckel, A. Verbruggen, R. Wiser, F. Yamba, T. Zwickel, (2011): Technical Summary. In IPCC Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation [O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, K. Seyboth, P. Matschoss, S. Kadner, T. Zwickel, P. Eickemeier, G. Hansen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Avitabile, V., Herold, M., Heuvelink, G., Lewis, S. L., Phillips, O. L., Asner, G. P., ... & Berry, N. J. (2016). An integrated pan-tropical biomass map using multiple reference datasets. *Global change biology*.
- Bacchi, O. O. S., Reichard, K., Sparovek, G., & Ranieri, S. B. L. (2000). Soil erosion evaluation in a small watershed in Brazil through 137 Cs fallout redistribution analysis and conventional models. *Acta geológica hispánica*,35(3), 251-259.
- Baker, T. J., & Miller, S. N. (2013). Using the Soil and Water Assessment Tool (SWAT) to assess land use impact on water resources in an East African watershed. *Journal of Hydrology*, 486, 100-111.

- Bertoni, J., & Lombardi, F. (1985). Conservação do solo. In *Conservação do solo*. Livroceres.
- Beskow, S., Mello, C. R., Norton, L. D., Curi, N., Viola, M. R., & Avanzi, J. C. (2009). Soil erosion prediction in the Grande River Basin, Brazil using distributed modeling. *Catena*, 79(1), 49-59.
- Beuchle, R., Grecchi, R. C., Shimabukuro, Y. E., Seliger, R., Eva, H. D., Sano, E., & Achard, F. (2015). Land cover changes in the Brazilian Cerrado and Caatinga biomes from 1990 to 2010 based on a systematic remote sensing sampling approach. *Applied Geography*, *58*, 116-127.
- Bhaduri, B., Harbor, J. O. N., Engel, B., & Grove, M. (2000). Assessing watershedscale, long-term hydrologic impacts of land-use change using a GIS-NPS model. *Environmental management*, 26(6), 643-658.
- Biesemans, J., Van Meirvenne, M., & Gabriels, D. (2000). Extending the RUSLE with the Monte Carlo error propagation technique to predict long-term average off-site sediment accumulation. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 55(1), 35-42.
- Bizuwerk, A., Taddese, G., & Getahun, Y. (2003). Application of GIS for Modeling Soil loss rate in Awash River Basin, Ethiopia.
- Boix-Fayos, C., Martínez-Mena, M., Arnau-Rosalén, E., Calvo-Cases, A., Castillo, V., & Albaladejo, J. (2006). Measuring soil erosion by field plots: understanding the sources of variation. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 78(3), 267-285.
- Brouwer, C., & Heibloem, M. (1986). Irrigation water management: irrigation water needs. *Training manual*, *3*.
- Cabral, O. M., Rocha, H. R., Gash, J. H., Ligo, M. A., Tatsch, J. D., Freitas, H. C., & Brasilio, E. (2012). Water use in a sugarcane plantation. *GCB Bioenergy*, *4*(5), 555-565.
- CANASAT. (2016). Sugarcane crop monitoring in Brazil. Retrived July 28, 2016, from <u>http://www.dsr.inpe.br/laf/canasat/en/</u>
- Carvalho, P. C. D. F. (2006). Country Pasture/Forage Resource Profiles: Brazil. *Food* and Agricultural Organization, 25.
- Cerri, C. C., Bernoux, M., Cerri, C. E. P., & Feller, C. (2004). Carbon cycling and sequestration opportunities in South America: the case of Brazil. *Soil Use and Management*, 20(2), 248-254.
- Cerri, C. C., Maia, S. M. F., Galdos, M. V., Cerri, C. E. P., Feigl, B. J., & Bernoux, M. (2009). Brazilian greenhouse gas emissions: the importance of agriculture and livestock. Scientia Agricola, *Scientia Agricola*, 66(6), 831-843
- Chavez-Rodriguez, M. F., & Nebra, S. A. (2010). Assessing GHG emissions, ecological footprint, and water linkage for different fuels. *Environmental science & technology*, 44(24), 9252-9257.
- Chavez-Rodriguez, M. F., Mosqueira-Salazar, K. J., Ensinas, A. V., & Nebra, S. A. (2013). Water reuse and recycling according to stream qualities in sugar–ethanol plants. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 17(5), 546-554.
- Chum, H., A. Faaij, J. Moreira, G. Berndes, P. Dhamija, H. Dong, B. Gabrielle, A. Goss Eng, W. Lucht, M. Mapako, O. Masera Cerutti, T. McIntyre, T. Minowa, K.

Pingoud, 2011: Bioenergy. In IPCC Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation [O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, K. Seyboth, P. Matschoss, S. Kadner, T. Zwickel, P. Eickemeier, G. Hansen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA

- Coltro, L., Mourad, A. L., Kletecke, R. M., Mendonça, T. A., & Germer, S. P. (2009). Assessing the environmental profile of orange production in Brazil.*The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, *14*(7), 656-664.
- CONAB. (2008) . Perfil do Setor de Açúcar e Álcool no Brasil. CONAB: Brasilia, p. 76.
- Cornelissen, S., Koper, M., & Deng, Y. Y. (2012). The role of bioenergy in a fully sustainable global energy system. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *41*, 21-33.
- CZYCZA, R. (2009). Soil organic matter quantity and quality under burned and unburned sugarcane harvesting system. *Piracicaba: Universidade de São Paulo. 92p.*
- da Silva, A. M. (1999). Aplicações de técnicas de geoprocessamento no estudo das relações entre os processos erosivos e sedimentológicos de bacia hidrográfica (Doctoral dissertation).
- da Silva, A. M. (2004). Rainfall erosivity map for Brazil. *Catena*, 57(3), 251-259.
- da Silva, V. D. P., da Silva, B. B., Albuquerque, W. G., Borges, C. J., de Sousa, I. F., & Neto, J. D. (2013). Crop coefficient, water requirements, yield and water use efficiency of sugarcane growth in Brazil. *Agricultural water management*, *128*, 102-109.
- De Baan, L., Alkemade, R., & Koellner, T. (2013). Land use impacts on biodiversity in LCA: a global approach. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 18(6), 1216-1230.
- de Carvalho Macedo, I. (1992). The sugar cane agro-industry—Its contribution to reducing CO 2 emissions in Brazil. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *3*(2), 77-80.
- de Carvalho Macedo, I. (1998). Greenhouse gas emissions and energy balances in bio-ethanol production and utilization in Brazil (1996). *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 14(1), 77-81.
- De Figueiredo, E. B., & La Scala, N. (2011). Greenhouse gas balance due to the conversion of sugarcane areas from burned to green harvest in Brazil.*Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 141*(1), 77-85.
- de Freitas, P. L., & Landers, J. N. (2014). The transformation of agriculture in Brazil through development and adoption of Zero Tillage Conservation Agriculture. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 2(1), 35-46.
- de Oliveira Bordonal, R., Lal, R., Aguiar, D. A., de Figueiredo, E. B., Perillo, L. I., Adami, M., ... & La Scala, N. (2015). Greenhouse gas balance from cultivation and direct land use change of recently established sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum) plantation in south-central Brazil. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 52, 547-556.
- de Souza Dias, M. O., Maciel Filho, R., Mantelatto, P. E., Cavalett, O., Rossell, C. E. V., Bonomi, A., & Leal, M. R. L. V. (2015). Sugarcane processing for ethanol and sugar in Brazil. *Environmental Development*, 15, 35-51.

- Dirzo, R., & Raven, P. H. (2003). Global state of biodiversity and loss. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 28(1), 137-167.
- Dunn, R. R. (2004). Recovery of faunal communities during tropical forest regeneration. *Conservation Biology*, *18*(2), 302-309.
- EIA (2010). Annual Energy Review, updated August 2011, Energy Information Administration, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC, USA
- Ellis, E. A., & Porter-Bolland, L. (2008). Is community-based forest management more effective than protected areas?: A comparison of land use/land cover change in two neighboring study areas of the Central Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico. *Forest ecology and management*, 256(11), 1971-1983.
- Fahrig, L. (2003). Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. *Annual review of ecology, evolution, and systematics*, 487-515.
- Falcucci, A., Maiorano, L., & Boitani, L. (2007). Changes in land-use/land-cover patterns in Italy and their implications for biodiversity conservation.*Landscape ecology*, 22(4), 617-631.
- FAO (a). (2012). Crop suitability index (value) for intermediate input level rain-fed sugarcane. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from http://gaez.fao.org/Main.html#
- FAO (b). (2012). Crop suitability index (value) for intermediate input level rain-fed alfalfa. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from http://gaez.fao.org/Main.html#
- FAO (c). (2015). Dominant soil. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from http://gaez.fao.org/Main.html#
- FAO (c). (2015). Dominant soil. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from http://gaez.fao.org/Main.html#
- FAO (d). (2015). Thermal climates. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from http://gaez.fao.org/Main.html#
- Fargione, J., Hill, J., Tilman, D., Polasky, S., & Hawthorne, P. (2008). Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. *Science*, *319*(5867), 1235-1238.
- Ferrier, S., & Guisan, A. (2006). Spatial modelling of biodiversity at the community level. *Journal of applied ecology*, *43*(3), 393-404.
- Filoso, S., do Carmo, J. B., Mardegan, S. F., Lins, S. R. M., Gomes, T. F., & Martinelli, L. A. (2015). Reassessing the environmental impacts of sugarcane ethanol production in Brazil to help meet sustainability goals. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *52*, 1847-1856.
- Flamenco-Sandoval, A., Ramos, M. M., & Masera, O. R. (2007). Assessing implications of land-use and land-cover change dynamics for conservation of a highly diverse tropical rain forest. *Biological conservation*, *138*(1), 131-145.
- Foley, J. A., DeFries, R., Asner, G. P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S. R., ... & Helkowski, J. H. (2005). Global consequences of land use. *science*,309(5734), 570-574.
- França, D., Longo, K., Rudorff, B., Aguiar, D., Freitas, S., Stockler, R., & Pereira, G. (2014). Pre-harvest sugarcane burning emission inventories based on remote sensing data in the state of São Paulo, Brazil. *Atmospheric Environment*, *99*, 446-456.

- Friedlingstein, P., Houghton, R. A., Marland, G., Hackler, J., Boden, T. A., Conway, T. J..., & Le Quere, C. (2010). Update on CO2 emissions. *Nature Geoscience*, 3(12), 811-812.
- Fu, G., Chen, S., & McCool, D. K. (2006). Modeling the impacts of no-till practice on soil erosion and sediment yield with RUSLE, SEDD, and ArcView GIS. *Soil and tillage research*, 85(1), 38-49.
- Galdino, S., Sano, E. E., Andrade, R. G., Grego, C. R., Nogueira, S. F., Bragantini, C., & Flosi, A. H. (2015). Large-scale Modeling of Soil Erosion with RUSLE for Conservationist Planning of Degraded Cultivated Brazilian Pastures. *Land Degradation & Development*.
- Galdos, M. V., Cerri, C. C., & Cerri, C. E. P. (2009). Soil carbon stocks under burned and unburned sugarcane in Brazil. *Geoderma*, *153*(3), 347-352.
- Gasparatos, A., & Stromberg, P. (2012). *Socioeconomic and environmental impacts of biofuels: Evidence from developing nations*. Cambridge University Press.
- Gaveau, D. L., Wandono, H., & Setiabudi, F. (2007). Three decades of deforestation in southwest Sumatra: Have protected areas halted forest loss and logging, and promoted re-growth?. *Biological Conservation*, *134*(4), 495-504.
- GEA, (2012). Global Energy Assessment Toward a Sustainable Future, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA and the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria.
- Goldemberg, J., Coelho, S. T., & Guardabassi, P. (2008). The sustainability of ethanol production from sugarcane. *Energy policy*, *36*(6), 2086-2097.
- Hernandes, T. A. D., Bufon, V. B., & Seabra, J. E. (2014). Water footprint of biofuels in Brazil: assessing regional differences. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 8(2), 241-252.
- Herrera, M. (1999). Cane, sugar and the environment. *Proceedings of the Cuba/FAO International Sugar Conference*.
- Hilu, A. (2003). *Erosão Hídrica na Bacia Hidrográfica do Rio Marumbi no Estado do Paraná* (Doctoral dissertation, Universidade Federal do Paraná).
- IBGE. (2006). Brazil soil class map. Retrieved June 22, 2016, from ftp://geoftp.ibge.gov.br
- IBGE. (2015). Estados, pobalcion estimada 2015. Retrieved March 4, 2016 from: http://www.ibge.gov.br/estadosat/perfil.php?sigla=sp.
- INMET. (2009). Normais climatológicas do brasil 1961-1990. Retrieved from: http://www.inmet.gov.br/portal/index.php?r=clima/normaisClimatologicas. (2016/ March/ 4).
- INMET. (2016). Dados Históricos. Retrieved May 24, 2016, from: http://www.inmet.gov.br/portal/index.php?r=bdmep/bdmep
- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística IBGE. (2015) Produção Agrícola Municipal banco de datos. Retrieved April 20, 2016, from http://www.ibge.gov.br/home/estatistica/pesquisas/pesquisa_resultados.php?id_pesqui sa=44

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2006). 2006 IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IPCC. 2014: Summary for policymakers. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L.White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-32.
- IUCN, (2013). Protected areas. Retrieved April 29, 2016, from: https://www.iucn.org/about/work/programmes/gpap_home/pas_gpap/
- Jantz, S. M., Barker, B., Brooks, T. M., Chini, L. P., Huang, Q., Moore, R. M., ... & Hurtt, G. C. (2015). Future habitat loss and extinctions driven by land-use change in biodiversity hotspots under four scenarios of climate-change mitigation. *Conservation Biology*, 29(4), 1122-1131.
- Jelinski, D. E., & Wu, J. (1996). The modifiable areal unit problem and implications for landscape ecology. *Landscape ecology*, *11*(3), 129-140.
- Kertzman, F. F., Oliveira, A. M. S., Salomão, F. X. T., & Gouveia, M. I. F. (1995). Mapa de erosão do estado de São Paulo. *Revista do Instituto Geológico*, 16(ESP), 31-36.
- Kim, J. B., Saunders, P., & Finn, J. T. (2005). Rapid assessment of soil erosion in the Rio Lempa Basin, Central America, using the universal soil loss equation and geographic information systems. *Environmental Management*, *36*(6), 872-885.
- Koizumi, T. (2015). Biofuels and food security. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *52*, 829-841.
- Kouli, M., Soupios, P., & Vallianatos, F. (2009). Soil erosion prediction using the revised universal soil loss equation (RUSLE) in a GIS framework, Chania, Northwestern Crete, Greece. *Environmental Geology*, *57*(3), 483-497.
- Lacefield, G.D., Ball, D.M., Hancock, D., Andrae, J., Smith., R. (2009). Growing Alfalfa in the South. *National Alfalfa and Forage Alliance*..
- Laflen, J.M., Moldenhauer, W.C., 2003. Pioneering soil erosion prediction: the USLE story. World Association of Soil & Water Conservation, Special Publ. 1, WASWC, Thailand, 43 pp.
- Lambin, E. F., Turner, B. L., Geist, H. J., Agbola, S. B., Angelsen, A., Bruce, J. W., ... & George, P. (2001). The causes of land-use and land-cover change: moving beyond the myths. *Global environmental change*, *11*(4), 261-269.
- Le Saout, S., Hoffmann, M., Shi, Y., Hughes, A., Bernard, C., Brooks, T. M., ... & Rodrigues, A. S. (2013). Protected areas and effective biodiversity conservation. *Science*, 342(6160), 803-805.
- Licht FO (a). World Ethanol Production Continue on Consolidation Course, World Ethanol and Biofuel Report. Vol. 12, No.15. Ratzeburg, Germany: Agra.Imforma; 2014.
- Licht FO (b). World Ethanol & Biofuels Report, Vol. 12, No. 16, Ratzeburg, Germany: Agra.Imforma; 2014.
- Lu, D., Li, G., Valladares, G. S., & Batistella, M. (2004). Mapping soil erosion risk in Rondonia, Brazilian Amazonia: using RUSLE, remote sensing and GIS. *Land Degradation & Development*, 15(5), 499-512.
- Luo, L., Van Der Voet, E., & Huppes, G. (2009). Life cycle assessment and life cycle costing of bioethanol from sugarcane in Brazil. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *13*(6), 1613-1619.
- Luque, R., Herrero-Davila, L., Campelo, J. M., Clark, J. H., Hidalgo, J. M., Luna, D., ... & Romero, A. A. (2008). Biofuels: a technological perspective. *Energy & Environmental Science*, 1(5), 542-564.
- Macedo, I. C., Seabra, J. E., & Silva, J. E. (2008). Green house gases emissions in the production and use of ethanol from sugarcane in Brazil: The 2005/2006 averages and a prediction for 2020. *Biomass and bioenergy*, *32*(7), 582-595.
- Manavakun, N. (2014). *Harvesting operations in eucalyptus plantations in Thailand*. Finnish Society of Forest Science.
- Martinelli, L. A., & Filoso, S. (2008). Expansion of sugarcane ethanol production in Brazil: environmental and social challenges. *Ecological Applications*, *18*(4), 885-898.
- Martinelli, L. A., Naylor, R., Vitousek, P. M., & Moutinho, P. (2010). Agriculture in Brazil: impacts, costs, and opportunities for a sustainable future. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 2(5), 431-438.
- McGarigal, K., & Cushman, S. A. (2002). Comparative evaluation of experimental approaches to the study of habitat fragmentation effects.*Ecological applications*, *12*(2), 335-345.
- Mitchell, J. K., & Bubenzer, G. D. (1980). Soil loss estimation. Soil erosion, 17-62.
- Nachtergaele, O., Petri, M., Biancalani, R., van Lynden, G., van Velthuizen, H., Bloise., M. (2001). LADA Technical report n. 17 Global Land Degradation Information System (GLADIS). An Information database for Land Degradation Assessment at Global Level
- Nassar, A. M., Rudorff, B. F., Antoniazzi, L. B., Aguiar, D. A. D., Bacchi, M. R. P., & Adami, M. (2008). Prospects of the sugarcane expansion in Brazil: impacts on direct and indirect land use changes. *Sugarcane ethanol: contributions to climate change mitigation and the environment*, 63-93.
- Neto, F. L., & Moldenhauer, W. C. (1992). Erosividade da chuva: sua distribuição e relação com perdas de solo em Campinas, SP. *Bragantia*,*51*(2), 189-196.
- Nolte, C., Agrawal, A., Silvius, K. M., & Soares-Filho, B. S. (2013). Governance regime and location influence avoided deforestation success of protected areas in the Brazilian Amazon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(13), 4956-4961.
- Panosso, A. R., Marques, J., Pereira, G. T., & La Scala, N. (2009). Spatial and temporal variability of soil CO 2 emission in a sugarcane area under green and slash-and-burn managements. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *105*(2), 275-282.
- Paul, E. A. (2014). *Soil microbiology, ecology and biochemistry*. Academic press.

- Pereira, H. M., Ferrier, S., Walters, M., Geller, G. N., Jongman, R. H. G., Scholes, R. J., ... & Coops, N. C. (2013). Essential biodiversity variables. *Science*, 339(6117), 277-278.
- Petrecca, G. (2014). World Energy Demand. In *Energy Conversion and Management* (pp. 25-29). Springer International Publishing.
- Pimentel, D. (2006). Soil erosion: a food and environmental threat. *Environment, development and sustainability*, 8(1), 119-137.
- Politano, W., & Pissarra, T. C. (2005). Evaluation of areas of different states of accelerated erosion of soil in sugar cane plantations and citrus orchards utilizing photointerpretation techniques. *Engenharia Agrícola*, 25(1), 242-252.
- Prasannakumar, V., Vijith, H., Abinod, S., & Geetha, N. (2012). Estimation of soil erosion risk within a small mountainous sub-watershed in Kerala, India, using Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE) and geo-information technology. *Geoscience Frontiers*, *3*(2), 209-215.
- REN21. 2015. Renewables 2015 Global Status Report. (Paris: REN21 Secretariat).
- Renard, K. G., & Freimund, J. R. (1994). Using monthly precipitation data to estimate the R-factor in the revised USLE. *Journal of hydrology*, *157*(1), 287-306.
- Renard, K.G., Foster, G.R., Weessies, G.A., & McCoo, D.K. (1997). Predicting soil erosion by water: a guide to conservation planning with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE), Agriculture Handbook, 703, U.S. Department of Agriculture
- Ribeiro, M. C., Metzger, J. P., Martensen, A. C., Ponzoni, F. J., & Hirota, M. M. (2009). The Brazilian Atlantic Forest: How much is left, and how is the remaining forest distributed? Implications for conservation. *Biological conservation*, *142*(6), 1141-1153.
- Rodrigues, R. R., Gandolfi, S., Nave, A. G., Aronson, J., Barreto, T. E., Vidal, C. Y., & Brancalion, P. H. (2011). Large-scale ecological restoration of high-diversity tropical forests in SE Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management*,261(10), 1605-1613.
- Rudorff, B. F. T., Aguiar, D. A., Silva, W. F., Sugawara, L. M., Adami, M., & Moreira, M. A. (2010). Studies on the rapid expansion of sugarcane for ethanol production in São Paulo State (Brazil) using Landsat data. *Remote sensing*, 2(4), 1057-1076.
- Ruhoff, A. L., Souza, B. S. P., Giotto, E., & Pereira, R. S. (2006). Avaliação dos processos erosivos através da equação universal de perdas de solos, implementada com algoritmos em legal.
- Rylands, A. B., & Brandon, K. (2005). Brazilian protected areas. *Conservation biology*, *19*(3), 612-618.
- Sano, E. E., Rosa, R., Brito, J. L., & Ferreira, L. G. (2010). Land cover mapping of the tropical savanna region in Brazil. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, *166*(1-4), 113-124.
- Seabra, J. E., Macedo, I. C., Chum, H. L., Faroni, C. E., & Sarto, C. A. (2011). Life cycle assessment of Brazilian sugarcane products: GHG emissions and energy use. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 5*(5), 519-532.

- Silva, A. J. N., Ribeiro, M. R., Carvalho, F. G., Silva, V. N., & Silva, L. E. S. F. (2007). Impact of sugarcane cultivation on soil carbon fractions, consistence limits and aggregate stability of a Yellow Latosol in Northeast Brazil. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *94*(2), 420-424.
- Silva, A. M. D., & Alvares, C. A. (2005). Levantamento de informações e estruturação de um banco de dados sobre a erodibilidade de classes de solos no Estado de São Paulo. *Geociências*, 24(1), 33-42.
- Silva, A. M. D., Casatti, L., Alvares, C. A., Leite, A. M., Martinelli, L. A., & Durrant, S. F. (2007). Soil loss risk and habitat quality in streams of a meso-scale river basin. *Scientia Agricola*, 64(4), 336-343.
- Soil erosion models (2016). Water erosion models. Retrieved July 15, 2016 from http://soilerosion.net/doc/models_menu.html
- Sparovek, G., & Schnug, E. (2001). Temporal erosion-induced soil degradation and yield loss. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 65(5), 1479-1486.
- Tallmon, D. A., Jules, E. S., Radke, N. J., & Mills, L. S. (2003). Of mice and men and trillium: cascading effects of forest fragmentation. *Ecological Applications*, *13*(5), 1193-1203.
- Teixeira, A. M. G., Soares-Filho, B. S., Freitas, S. R., & Metzger, J. P. (2009). Modeling landscape dynamics in an Atlantic Rainforest region: implications for conservation. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 257(4), 1219-1230.
- The World Bank (a). (2016). CO2 emissions indicator. Retrieved from: http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=world-developmentindicators (2016/ February 5).
- The World Bank (b). (2016). Fossil fuel energy consumption indicator. Retrieved from: http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=world-development-indicators (2016/ February 5).
- Tong, S. T., Sun, Y., Ranatunga, T., He, J., & Yang, Y. J. (2012). Predicting plausible impacts of sets of climate and land use change scenarios on water resources. *Applied Geography*, *32*(2), 477-489.
- TUD. (2016, May 9). LULC Maps 2003 up to 2015 Sao Paulo State (Brazil). Retrieved May 13, 2016, from http://be-basic.grs.tudelft.nl/maps/316#more
- Turner, B. L., Lambin, E. F., & Reenberg, A. (2007). The emergence of land change science for global environmental change and sustainability.*Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(52), 20666-20671.
- United States Department of Agriculture Foreign Agricultural Service May 2016 Global Sugar Consumption To Again Outpace Production, Draw Inventories Lower in 2016/17 Sugar: World Markets and Trade
- Uriarte, M., Yackulic, C. B., Cooper, T., Flynn, D., Cortes, M., Crk, T., ... & Sircely, J. (2009). Expansion of sugarcane production in São Paulo, Brazil: implications for fire occurrence and respiratory health. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 132(1), 48-56.
- Van Dam, J., Faaij, A. P., Hilbert, J., Petruzzi, H., & Turkenburg, W. C. (2009). Large-scale bioenergy production from soybeans and switchgrass in Argentina: Part

B. Environmental and socio-economic impacts on a regional level. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 13(8), 1679-1709.

- van den Berg, L. J., Bullock, J. M., Clarke, R. T., Langston, R. H., & Rose, R. J. (2001). Territory selection by the Dartford warbler (Sylvia undata) in Dorset, England: the role of vegetation type, habitat fragmentation and population size. *Biological Conservation*, *101*(2), 217-228.
- Van der Hilst, F., Lesschen, J. P., Van Dam, J. M. C., Riksen, M., Verweij, P. A., Sanders, J. P. M., & Faaij, A. P. C. (2012). Spatial variation of environmental impacts of regional biomass chains. *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, 16(4), 2053-2069.
- van Rooij, W., Manual for biodiversity modelling on a national scale. Using GLOBIO3 and CLUE methodology to calculate current and future status of biodiversity. 2008, PBL: Bilthoven, The Netherlands.
- Walter, A., Dolzan, P., Quilodrán, O., de Oliveira, J. G., da Silva, C., Piacente, F., & Segerstedt, A. (2011). Sustainability assessment of bio-ethanol production in Brazil considering land use change, GHG emissions and socio-economic aspects. *Energy Policy*, *39*(10),5703-571
- Walter, A., Dolzan, P., Quilodrán, O., de Oliveira, J. G., da Silva, C., Piacente, F., & Segerstedt, A. (2011). Sustainability assessment of bio-ethanol production in Brazil considering land use change, GHG emissions and socio-economic aspects. *Energy Policy*, *39*(10), 5703-5716.
- Watson, J. E., Dudley, N., Segan, D. B., & Hockings, M. (2014). The performance and potential of protected areas. *Nature*, *515*(7525), 67-73.
- Weber, E., Hasenack, H., & Ferreira, C. J. S. (2004). Adaptação do modelo digital de elevação do SRTM para o sistema de referência oficial brasileiro e recorte por unidade da federação. *Porto Alegre, UFRGS Centro de Ecologia. ISBN*, 978-85.
- Wischmeier, W.H., Smith, D.D. (1978). Predicting Rainfall Erosion Losses A Guide for Conservation Planning. Agriculture Handbook, vol. 537, U.S. Department of Agriculture
- WWF, Ecofys, & OMA. (n.d.). The Energy Report 100% renewable energy by 2050 (Vol. 5). Retrieved March 10, 2013 from <u>http://wwf.panda.org/what_we_do/footprint/climate_carbon_energy/energy_solutions</u> <u>22/renewable_energy/su_stainable_energy_report/</u>
- Yang, D., Kanae, S., Oki, T., Koike, T., & Musiake, K. (2003). Global potential soil erosion with reference to land use and climate changes.*Hydrological processes*, *17*(14), 2913-2928.
- Zuurbier, P., & Van de Vooren, J. (2008). Introduction to sugarcane ethanol contributions to climate change mitigation and the environment. *Sugarcane ethanol*, 19.